# Expression of a Winter Flounder Antifreeze Protein in *E. coli* and its Effect on Ice Nucleation

by

Chang Xing Jian

# Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

at

Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova Scotia December 2021

© Copyright by Chang Xing Jian, 2021

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURESvi
ABSTRACTviii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS USEDix
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS x
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION 1
1.1 Ice-Binding Proteins1
1.1.1 Ice-Binding Proteins and Their Diversity1
1.1.2 Biological Roles of Ice-Binding Proteins2
1.1.3. Roles and Distributions of AFPs5
1.1.4 Types of Fish AFPs6
1.2 Winter Flounder Type I AFP8
1.2.1 Life History of the Winter Flounder ( <i>P. americanus</i> )8
1.2.2 Expression of Diverse AFP Forms in the Winter Flounder9
1.2.3 Structure and Function of the Plasma AFP611
1.3 Production of Single Isoform of AFP615
1.3.1 Traditional Sources of AFP615
1.3.2 Approaches for the Heterologous Expression of AFP616
1.3.3 Fusion Proteins for the Expression of Type I AFPs in <i>E. coli</i>

1.4 The Modulation of Ice Nucleation by Antifreeze Proteins	20
1.4.1 Effects of Ice on Cells and Tissues	20
1.4.2 Ice Nucleation	21
1.4.3 Ice Nucleation and Ice-Nucleating Proteins	23
1.4.4 Antifreeze Proteins and Ice Nucleation	25
1.5 Research Objectives	26
1.5.1 Evaluation of the Effects of AFP6 on Ice Nucleation	26
CHAPTER 2: EXPRESSION AND CHARACTERIZATION OF AFP6 AND EXPERIMENTAL VARIANTS	
2.1 Introduction	
2.2 Materials and Methods	29
2.2.1 Design of Expression Constructs for the Expression of AFP6 and Related Proteins	29
2.2.2 Expression of AFP6 and Related Proteins	
2.2.3 Purification of His-SUMO and His-SUMO-AFP	
2.2.4 Purification of AFP and MutAFP	
2.2.5 SDS-PAGE of AFP6 and Related Proteins	
2.2.6 Mass Spectrometry of AFP and MutAFP	
2.2.7 Circular Dichroism Spectroscopy	
2.2.8 Thermal Hysteresis Measurement and Ice Crystal Morphology	36

2.3 Results	
2.3.1 Expression and Purification of Fusion Proteins and Derived AFPs	
2.3.2 Mass Spectrometry	45
2.3.3 Circular Dichroism Spectroscopy	45
2.3.4 Thermal Hysteresis	49
2.4 Discussion	52
2.4.1 Optimizing the SUMO-Protease Cleaving Efficiency	52
2.4.2 Characterizations of AFP and Related Proteins	53
CHAPTER 3: EVALUATION OF THE EFFECTS OF AFP ON ICE NUCLEATION	
3.1 Introduction	56
3.2 Materials and Methods	58
3.2.1 Preparation of Buffers and Protein Samples	58
3.2.2 Ice Nucleation Analysis by the Droplet Assay	58
3.2.3 Data Analysis.	59
3.3 Results	61
3.3.1 Effect of AFP Samples on AgI-Induced Ice Nucleation	61
3.3.2 Effect of AFP Samples on Natural Ice Nucleation	65
3.4 Discussion	69

REFERENCES	
CHAPTER 4: CONCLUSIONS	75
3.4.5 Concluding Remarks	74
3.4.4 The Effect of SUMO Domain and Ice Binding Activi AFP6 Ice Nucleation	ty on 73
3.4.3 Nucleation Inhibition and Promotion	72
3.4.2 Inhibition of Nucleation by AFP and Other Proteins	70
3.4.1 Effects of Proteins on AgI-Nucleated Ice	69

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Concentration dependent ice shaping of AFP	10
Figure 2. Helical wheel of the winter flounder AFP6	13
Figure 3. Sequence and plasmid construct of His-SUMO-AFP	30
Figure 4. The aligned sequences and helical wheel of AFP6 and MutAFP	31
Figure 5. Schematic representation of the expression of His-SUMO, His-SUMO-MutAFP, and His-SUMO-AFP	32
Figure 6. SDS-PAGE analysis of the expression and purification of His-SUMO	39
Figure 7. Expression of His-SUMO-MutAFP and His-SUMO-AFP	40
Figure 8. SDS-PAGE analysis of the purification of MutAFP	41
Figure 9. SDS-PAGE analysis of the purification of His-SUMO-AFP	42
Figure 10. SDS-PAGE analysis of the SUMO-protease cleaving of His-SUMO-AFP	43
Figure 11. SDS-PAGE of purified MutAFP, AFP, His-SUMO, and His-SUMO-AFP visualized by curcumin staining	44
Figure 12. Mass spectrum of MutAFP	46
Figure 13. Mass spectrum of AFP	47
Figure 14. Circular dichroism spectroscopy of MutAFP and AFP	48
Figure 15. Ice crystals formed in the presence of 1.5 mM AFP and control constructs	50
Figure 16. Concentration-dependent thermal hysteresis of His-SUMO, His-SUMO-AFP, MutAFP and AFP	51
Figure 17. Droplet assay for ice nucleation study	60
Figure 18. High subzero temperature freezing profile of proteins in the presence of AgI	62

Figure 19. High sub-zero concentration-dependent freezing profile of AFP in the presence of AgI
Figure 20. High sub-zero concentration-dependent freezing profile of AFP-related proteins and control proteins
Figure 21. Low sub-zero concentration-dependent freezing profile of AFP, AFP-related proteins and control proteins in the absence of exogenous nucleators
Figure 22. Low sub-zero concentration-dependent freezing profile of AFP in the absence of exogenous nucleators
Figure 23. Low sub-zero concentration-dependent freezing profile of AFP-related proteins and control proteins in the absence of exogenous nucleators

# ABSTRACT

Ice-binding proteins are known to interact with ice to depress freezing point noncolligatively or to inhibit ice recrystallization; however, their effects on ice nucleation are not fully understood. The antifreeze proteins of fish are among the best-studied ice-binding proteins, and AFP6 found in the winter flounder plasma is a small alpha-helical antifreeze protein that depresses the freezing point. In this study, recombinant AFP6 was expressed intracellularly in *E.coli* as fusion protein, then cleaved to produce monomeric active AFP6. A mutant AFP6 without antifreeze activity was produced in the same manner. AFP6 and its fusion protein precursor exhibited similar antifreeze activity, whereas the mutant AFP had no measurable antifreeze activity. AFP6 and its fusion protein precursor were both found to inhibit silver iodide-induced ice nucleation. Conversely, AFP6 was observed to promote uninduced ice nucleation at lower temperatures, while its fusion protein precursor and the AFP6 mutant did not.

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS USED

AFGP	antifreeze glycoprotein
AFP	antifreeze protein
Da	Dalton
g	gravity
HPLC	high performance liquid chromatography
IBPs	ice binding proteins
INP	ice nucleating protein
ORF	open reading frame
PAGE	polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulphate
ТН	thermal hysteresis

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I firstly like to thank my supervisor Dr. Vanya Ewart, for providing this interesting project and guiding me along my Masters journey. Thank you Dr. Ewart for accepting me into your lab and providing me tremendous help and guidance alone the way. I would like to thank my co-supervisor Dr. Paul Liu, for providing the essential equipment and supplies for the completion of this project. Thank you Dr. Liu for providing me the necessary trainings to start the project. I would also like to thank my supervisory committee: Dr. Jan Rainey and Dr. Christian Blouin, your help and input are invaluable over the course of the past few years, and helped me in many aspects of science.

I also have many members of Ewart lab, Liu lab, and Rainey lab to thank. Dr. LingLing Xu for providing trainings on protein expression and purification. Dr. Andy Song for the wisdom and the alternative way of scientific thinking. Dane Sands for providing training on handling antifreeze proteins and curcumin stain. Jeff Simons for the insight and help of lab instruments usage and repair. I would like to thank the Langelaan lab and the Bearne for letting me use their tools and reagents. I would also like to thank the Waisman lab for the usage of specialized lab equipment.

Lastly, I would like to thank my friends and family, I appreciate the help and support you provide alone the way.

## **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

The history life on Earth is one of adapting to new and changing conditions. Lowtemperature environments are prominent among those to which many species have adapted, and these environments bring the additional risk of freezing. Water is the universal solvent that is involved in all cellular processes, and the freezing of water involves the transition of water from liquid to solid state. In general, ice is incompatible with life, as cellular processes require the mobility of liquid water, and the solidification of water by freezing could be lethal to living cells. All organisms consist of cells, and when cells are subjected to freezing temperature, the formation of intracellular crystals could cause damage (Acker & McGann, 2001). Also, the formation of extracellular ice can cause an increase in extracellular solute concentration, thereby removing water osmotically from the cell and resulting in dehydration; moreover, the formation of extracellular ice can directly damage the cells, tissues, and organs (Mazur, 1984). Many species in cold environments have ways to avoid freezing, and the production of ice-binding proteins (IBPs) is key for the survival of organisms in cold environments with the presence of ice (Białkowska et al., 2020).

# **1.1 Ice-Binding Proteins**

#### 1.1.1 Ice-Binding Proteins and Their Diversity

IBPs are diverse class of proteins that are widespread across biological kingdoms, and they bind to ice surfaces to control ice growth, thereby allowing organisms avoid damage from uncontrolled freezing (Chasnitsky & Braslavsky, 2019; Dolev, Braslavsky, & Davies, 2016). There are a variety of proteins that function as IBPs in a wide variety of organisms, including bacteria, yeasts, microalgae, diatoms, plants, fish and insects (Dolev, Braslavsky, et al., 2016). The three known forms of IBPs includes ice adhesion proteins, ice-nucleating proteins (INPs), and antifreeze proteins (AFPs) (Cid et al., 2016; Guo et al., 2012).

# 1.1.2 Biological Roles of Ice-Binding Proteins

The ice-adhesion proteins are the newest member of the known IBPs. They were discovered in an Antarctic bacterium, *Marinomonas primoryensis*, which is a Gramnegative, aerobic, psychrophilic, halophilic, and motile species found in marine coastal ice (Dolev & Braslavsky, 2017; Gilbert, Davies, & Laybourn-Parry, 2005; Romanenko et al., 2003). The 1.5 MDa ice-adhesion protein consists of five different domains, and the 34 kDa fourth domain is the only part that contributes to ice binding. Ice-adhesion proteins serve as adhesins that attach the bacteria to the lower surface of floating ice, where oxygen and nutrients are available (Dolev, Bernheim, et al., 2016). Another related ice-adhesion protein from *Shewanella frigidimarinas*, named *Sf*IBP, was found to be alter ice crystal growth. These two proteins share general structures such as tandem domains as extenders, a C-terminal domain that binds to ice, and a N-terminal domain that attaches the protein to the outer membrane of the cells (Vance, Graham, & Davies, 2018).

Ice-nucleation proteins (INPs) are a family of proteins that promote nucleation of ice

at relatively high temperatures as warm as -5 °C and they are found in several Gramnegative bacteria such as Erwinia uredovora, Pseudomonas svringae, or Xanthomonas *campestris* that are ubiquitous on the surfaces of frost-sensitive plants (Cid et al., 2016; Gurian-Sherman & Lindow, 1993). INPs are anchored to the outer cell membrane of ice nucleation active bacteria, and they can initiate ice formation that results in frost injury in order to attack plants (Lindow, Arny, & Upper, 1982). Most INPs are hydrophobic, especially in the large repetitive regions that are active in ice nucleation, while the N- and C-terminal domains are responsible for membrane-anchoring and protein folding, respectively (Morris, Georgakopoulos, & Sands, 2004). The highly repetitive domain that comprises the central core of INPs consist of 48-residue repeats that each contain 3 repeats of a 16-amino acid motif (Warren, 2013). The repetitive domain has been proposed to be responsible for aligning water molecules to form a stable seed crystal, which is the ratelimiting step in solution freezing (Warren, 2013). Models of ice nucleation proteins propose that monomers of INPs can aggregate to form a nucleation site, and they can closely complement ice crystal faces by the means of planar arrays formed by hydrogen binding groups (Gurian-Sherman & Lindow, 1993).

AFPs are the most studied and best understood IBPs. These relatively small proteins typically adhere to the ice surface through flat hydrophobic surfaces formed by particular side chain arrangements (Hudait et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2017). The binding of AFPs to the surface of ice forces the addition of new water molecules to form an energetically unfavorable curve in between the bound AFPs, which allows the directional inhibition of

growth and shaping of ice; as a result of the addition of new water molecules being energetically unfavorable, the binding depresses the solution freezing temperature and prevents freezing of the organism (Dolev & Braslavsky, 2017; Salvay et al., 2010). This freezing point depression is non-colligative, resulting in a thermal hysteresis (TH) between the melting and freezing points. The extent of freezing depression, termed antifreeze activity, is measured by the TH. The presence of AFPs in the blood of marine fish depresses the freezing point, which allows fish species that expresses AFPs to inhabit cold seawater below the colligative freezing point of their blood (Kim et al., 2017). Other than freezing point depression, AFPs can also provide freeze-tolerance by inhibiting ice recrystallization, which is a process in which large ice crystals grow at the expense of smaller ones. Ice recrystallization occurs in a partially frozen solution, such as in partially frozen freezetolerant organisms, and it is inhibited by AFPs (Tomczak et al., 2003). The formation of intracellular or extracellular ice during freezing causes cell damage, and many freezetolerant organisms live in sub-zero environments produce large quantities of AFPs or small-molecule recrystallization inhibitors to protect themselves from the development of large ice crystals (Chantelle, Doshi, & Robert., 2013). For example, Antarctic bacteria are found to possess AFPs that are known to have low antifreeze activity of less than 0.1 °C, and it is widely believed that their AFPs provide freeze-tolerance by ice recrystallization inhibition rather than freeze avoidance by freezing point depression (Chattopadhyay, 2008).

#### 1.1.3. Roles and Distributions of AFPs

The flat and relatively hydrophobic ice binding sites of the AFPs are thought to organize water into an ice-like arrangement that merges and freezes with the quasi-liquid layer just above the ice lattice (Davies, 2014). Although all AFPs have ice binding sites that interact with ice surfaces, they can have different antifreeze activities or structures that serve different roles in a variety of species according to their natural habitats.

Polar microalgae can live and thrive in sea ice by having AFPs that controls the growth of ice crystals. Most AFPs from microalgae are active extracellularly, and it has been suggested that the AFPs are accumulated within the extracellular polysaccharide substances secreted by the microalgae (Bayer-Giraldi, Jin, & Wilson, 2014).

Many insects in freezing regions are known to produce "hyperactive" AFPs, because those insects are often exposed to much lower terrestrial temperatures which are often below -30 °C, and having AFPs with much higher antifreeze activity is necessary for their survival (Graham et al., 1997; Kristiansen et al., 2012; Kuiper et al., 2015).

AFPs has also been found in many overwintering plants. When the temperature drops below 0 °C, ice formation can be lethal to plant cells. The formation of intracellular ice can destabilize the plant cell membrane by rupturing the plasma membrane, and the formation of extracellular ice can result in water loss and protein denaturation (Lin et al., 2005). Some overwintering plants have evolved to counter the cold temperature by expressing AFPs that modify the growth of ice and depress ice recrystallization. The antifreeze activity generated by plant AFPs is generally modest, between 0.2 °C to 0.5 °C, and it was suggested that the main role of plant AFPs is the inhibition of ice recrystallization rather the prevention of ice formation (Lin et al., 2005).

AFPs found Antarctic fish species are known to cause antifreeze activity of more than 1 °C by interacting directly with ice surfaces, and the activity of fish AFPs is generally between 0.7 °C to 1.5 °C. Other than the inhibition of ice formation, fish AFPs were also suggested to protect the structural integrity of cells and tissues to prevent the leakage of membranes under hypothermic conditions (Venketesh & Dayananda, 2008). However, some fish AFPs were shown to destroy membrane integrity during freezing (Tomczak et al., 2001).

## 1.1.4 Types of Fish AFPs

There are five structurally distinct types of AFP among polar and north temperate fish species (Davies, 2014). Type I AFPs are amphiphilic proteins with alanine-rich alpha-helix. The helicity is mostly maintained by the high alanine content, and the alpha-helical structure presents a flat ice-binding platform consisting of alanine and threonine, while threonine is responsible for binding to ice through hydrogen bond and hydrophobic interactions to inhibit the growth of ice (Harding, Ward, & Haymet, 1999; Hudait et al., 2019; Sicheri & Yang, 1995). Type I AFPs are found in fish inhabiting north temperate oceans such as winter flounder (*Pseudopleuronectes americanus*), cunner (*Tautogolabrus adspersus*), and sculpins, including *Myoxocephalus scorpius*, at concentrations of 10-15

mg/mL (Fletcher, Hew, & Davies, 2003; Hobbs et al., 2011). The type I AFPs appear to have arisen from convergent and independent evolution, since winter flounder and sculpin diverged long before the Arctic glaciation (Scott, Fletcher, & Davies, 2011). Type II AFPs are found in herring (Clupea harengus), smelts such as Osmerus mordax, and the sea raven (Hemitripterus americanus). They are 130- to 150-residue globular proteins containing five disulfide bonds (Fletcher et al., 2003; Graham et al., 2012; Yamashita et al., 2003). Type II AFPs are homologous to the carbohydrate recognition domain of C-type lectins and their folds are very similar (Ewart, Rubinsky, & Fletcher, 1992; Liu et al., 2007; Logsdon & Doolittle, 1997; Wolfram Gronwald et al., 1998). Type III AFPs are approximately 7 kDa and they are found in Arctic and Antarctic eelpouts. (Crevel, Fedyk, & Spurgeon, 2002). Type III AFPs were found to be homologous to the C-terminal region of mammalian sialic acid synthase through multiple sequence alignments, especially the protein core and the flat ice-binding region in both sequence and structure, which provides evidence that type III AFP evolved from the gene of sialic acid synthase (Baardsnes & Davies, 2001). Type IV AFP is closely related to a helix-bundle serum apolipoprotein. It was discovered in the blood plasma of the longhorn sculpin (Myoxocephalus octodecemspinosus) (Deng, Andrews, & Laursen, 1997). Nonetheless, the plasma antifreeze activity of different longhorn sculpin species has been found to be extremely low and the type IV AFP is not expressed in a sufficient quantity in fish to protect them from freezing (Gauthier et al., 2008).

#### 1.2 Winter Flounder Type I AFP

#### 1.2.1 Life History of the Winter Flounder (P. americanus)

Winter flounder is the most common flounder species found in waters from Newfoundland to Massachusetts Bay, living in deep water away from the shore during summer when temperatures increase above 15 °C, and then returning to shallow nearshore waters during winter (Pereira, 1999). Winter flounder can grow to reach a length of 64 cm and weight of 3.6 kg, their eves are located on the right site of their body (Hoornbeek, Sawyer, & Sawyer, 1982). These fish can live up to 15 years, reaching maturity at 6-7 years, and mature winter flounder can lay up to 3.3 million adhesive eggs that hatch within 2-3 weeks depending on the temperature (Roberts, 2018). The larvae transit from planktonic to bottom-oriented lifestyle over time. Meanwhile, their left eye begins to migrate to the right side of the body around 5-6 weeks after hatching, and the migration completes at around 8 weeks when the larvae are 8-9 mm (Pereira, 1999). There are two forms of AFP in winter flounder. They are small proteins with a length shorter than 40 residues, and they are encoded by many gene copies and expressed throughout the fish (Gong et al., 1996). Multiple serum AFP isoforms were isolated, with the major forms initially referred to as HPLC6 and HPLC8 (now AFP6 and AFP8), and several skin AFP isoforms were identified as well (Fourney et al., 2011).

The plasma of winter flounder also contains a hyperactive antifreeze protein that is a dimer of long hair-pinned alpha helices, with an antifreeze activity 10- to 100-fold higher than type I AFP, which makes it comparable in antifreeze activity to insect AFPs (Marshall,

Chakrabartty, & Davies, 2005). At a concentration of 0.1 mg/mL, the hyperactive antifreeze protein can provide thermal hysteresis of 1.1 °C, while type I AFP and other fish AFPs provide less than 0.1 °C of thermal hysteresis at the same concentration. However, the hyperactive AFP is scarce, with about 0.2 mg/mL circulating concentration, which is 50-fold less than the smaller type I AFP. The hyperactive AFP is also extremely unstable; it denatures irreversibly at room temperature and at low pH (Marshall, Fletcher, & Davies, 2004). Different types of AFPs are structurally distinct, but they share the ability of inhibiting ice growth by binding to ice surface; thereby decreasing the freezing temperature (Gong et al., 1996).

## 1.2.2 Expression of Diverse AFP Forms in the Winter Flounder

Winter flounders produce several AFPs including skin antifreeze protein and liver antifreeze proteins which are found in their skin and serum, respectively (Davies & Hew, 1980; Fletcher et al., 2003; Gong et al., 1996). The presence of AFPs in serum provides winter flounder freezing avoidance to the freezing point of sea water; therefore, winter flounders can survive in sea water with the temperature as low as -1.9 °C. AFPs bind to the ice crystals to inhibit their growth, and the binding also shapes the morphology of the ice crystals in a concentration dependent manner as illustrated in Figure 1 (Rahman et al., 2019).

Serum AFPs are synthesized in the liver as large preproAFPs of 82 amino acids; the

presequences are cotranslationally processed and the prosequence is cleaved off in the blood (Davies, Hew, & Fletcher, 1988). Winter flounder liver AFPs include several isoforms but have two main components being AFP6 and AFP8 (Gong et al., 1996). AFP6 is the major serum isoform of winter flounder, and AFP8 is abundant in winter flounder serum as well. The major amino acid component for AFP6 and AFP8 in primary structure is alanine, they both contain 11-residue ice-binding motifs and have 37 residues, and they are different by two residues (Pickett et al., 1984).



Figure 1. Concentration dependent ice shaping of AFP. The ice crystal forms an ice disk without AFP. The presence of AFP can shape the ice crystal into different morphologies depending on the AFP concentration, and the absorption of enough AFP can eventually shape the ice crystals into the bipyramidal structure. (Open-access image modified from Rahman, 2019)

Skin AFPs are produced as mature polypeptides, the absence of both signal and pro sequences suggests that they function intracellularly, and it was found that the genes of skin AFPs are distinct from the genes encoding liver AFPs (Gong et al., 1996). Skin AFPs are also alanine-rich and contain similar threonine 11-amino acid repeats, but they are less active than serum AFPs. Although the antifreeze activity of the skin AFPs are in the range of general fish AFP activities, they are not as active as liver AFPs because skin AFPs lack several residues that are known to contribute to antifreeze activity in serum AFPs (Fletcher, Kao, & Fourney, 2011; Gong et al., 1996). Although both skin AFPs and liver AFPs form helical repeats that provide flat ice-binding surface, skin AFP only have Thr as ice interacting sites, while liver AFPs also have Asn or Asp other than Thr as ice interacting sites (Sicheri & Yang, 1995; Stevens et al., 2021). The lower antifreeze activity of skin AFP may be due to the single Thr residues composition, because single Thr residues are incomplete motifs that binds to ice weakly (Gong et al., 1996).

# 1.2.3 Structure and Function of the Plasma AFP6

The canonical type I AFP that has been carefully studied is a major serum isoform currently named AFP6, and previously named HPLC6 and wflAFP-6. (Dubé, Leggiadro, & Ewart, 2016). The protein is monomeric in solution, and the crystal structure showed that the 37 amino acid chain fold into a single amphiphilic alpha helix (Sicheri & Yang, 1995; Yang et al., 1988). AFP6 consists of several amino acids, including Asp, Thr, Ala, Ser, Leu, and Glu, with Ala being predominant (~65%) as shown in Figure 2, the abundance of this residue is likely to be responsible for stabilization of the helical structure (Cheng, & Mer, 1997; Rohl, Fiori, & Baldwin, 1999). It is known that three alanine residues and an adjacent threonine residue in AFP6 form a surface that promotes ice binding, and threonine residues within the ice-binding motif are located at nearly identical distances throughout the helical structure; by replacing Thr with Ser or Val, it was also found by that the ice growth inhibition of AFP6 is contributed by the hydrophobic interaction between the methyl group of Thr and ice surface (Baardsnes et al., 1999; Cheng et al., 1997; Davies et al., 2002).



Figure 2. Helical wheel of the winter flounder AFP6. The arrowhead in the middle points toward the ice-binding face of the alpha helix. The image was generated using HeliQuest. (Gautier et al., 2008).

AFP6 prevents the growth of ice through an absorption-inhibition mechanism by adsorbing on the pyramidal plane of ice crystals to make the addition of water molecules to ice restricted to the exposed surface between protein molecules (Knight et al., 1991; Raymond & DeVries, 1977). Therefore, the ice crystals are forced to grow in less thermodynamically favored curved surface to lower the freezing point (Knight et al., 1991; Raymond & DeVries, 1977). The antifreeze activity of AFP6 is also correlated with the stability of the helix structure. It was found that the introduction of two additional salt bridges that enhance the helix content also enhances the antifreeze activity of the AFP, and the AFP was able to be active at seven-to eight-fold lower concentration (Chakrabartty & Hew, 1991). The helix content of AFP is negatively correlated with the energy required for confrontational transition when AFP binds to ice; therefore, the higher the helix content, the higher the antifreeze activity. Most structural studies of AFP6 involve the use of chemically synthesized proteins, because full activity requires a native N-terminal aspartate and an amidated C-terminus (Patel & Graether, 2010). Amidation is a terminal peptide modification from a carboxyl group to amide group by cleaving a terminal glycine, and amidated peptides have longer half-life and greater resistance to proteolytic degradation (Kumar, Eipper, & Mains, 2014). It has been reported that the antifreeze activity of a non-amidated AFP6 is approximately 35% lower compared to amidated AFP6, and the higher TH activity was caused by higher rigidity provided by the amidated Cterminus (Kumar et al., 2014). It was suggested by the same study that the increase of AFP flexibility prevents AFP from binding strongly to the ice surface and causes the AFP to have decreased activity.

#### 1.3 Production of Single Isoform of AFP6

# 1.3.1 Traditional Sources of AFP6

AFP6 is one of the two major AFPs in the blood plasma of winter flounder and it is the most intensely studied form. AFP6 is also the best-understood IBP, but the detailed mechanisms of its antifreeze activity still remain unclear (Tong et al., 2000). There are still several aspects of small alpha-helical AFP structure and function that remain to be studied, namely, more specific understanding of the features that allow interaction between AFP6 and ice surface (Davies et al., 2002). Further study of AFP6 is also of interest because it has been found to form amyloid upon freezing and thawing (Graether, Slupsky, & Sykes, 2003). This appears to result from direct AFP-ice interaction (Dubé et al., 2016) and yet the mechanism by which this transition takes place is unknown. Thus, there are many aspects of AFP6 that require further investigation, and this will require substantial amounts of pure AFP6. Given the myriad isoforms of AFP in the plasma of flounder, it is difficult to separate a particular isoform of AFP from the mixture, and purification of individual isoforms in quantities sufficient for study is impractical (Fourney, Fletcher, & Hew, 1984). Therefore, given the short 37-residue length of AFP6, most studies have employed peptide synthesis to generate study material (Baardsnes et al., 1999; Dubé et al., 2016; Graether et al., 2003). Another advantage of synthetic AFP6 is that it can be C-terminal amidated, as the native AFP6 is. However, commercially synthesized AFP6 is often low yield and refractory to solubilization, and the high cost makes the synthesis of large amount of AFP6 prohibitive (Sands, 2020). The same study also reported inconsistency in synthetic AFP6

solubility from different manufacturers, as well as limited quality and quantity. Therefore, although peptide synthesis is widely available, synthetic AFP6 is not ideal for many studies due to the variation in products from different manufacturers.

# 1.3.2 Approaches for the Heterologous Expression of AFP6

The alternative approach of obtaining AFP6 is by expression from a single sequence in a heterologous host, and this has been achieved in yeast and bacteria (Liyanage, Jayawardana, & Kodithuwakku, 2013). Yeast species are effective hosts of the production of functional recombinant proteins due to their fast growth, high protein yield, and proper posttranslational modifications (Baghban et al., 2019). A study reported the expression and secretion of AFP6 in yeast as tandem repeats, which were linked by short sequences that allow the peptide to be processed by protease Xa to yield AFP6 monomers (Driedonks et al., 1995). The expression level of the multimers approached 100 mg/L; however, the proteolytic processing was incomplete, generating a heterogeneous mixture of AFP6 monomers and longer AFP6 tandem repeats (Driedonks et al., 1995). Therefore, a substantial separation process was required to yield pure AFP6 (Driedonks et al., 1995). Other than yeast AFP6 expression, AFP6 has also been expressed in bacteria in different studies (Solomon & Appels, 1999; Tong et al., 2000). E. coli is one of the most widely used host for expression of heterogeneous proteins, and its genetics are well studied and better characterized than other microorganisms (Fakruddin et al., 2013). E. coli is a

preferred host for its relative simplicity, inexpensive, and fast high-density cultivation. Although E. coli has many advantages in terms of expressing heterogeneous proteins, expression of proteins is not always successful due to many factors such as codon bias, protein degradation, strength of promoter, stability of vector, protein solubility, and protein toxicity (Rosano & Ceccarelli, 2014). AFP6 is a small protein with the size of 3.3 kDa. The small size and the lack of globular tertiary structure of AFP6 may render this protein more prone to degradation by proteases in bacterial cells (Mueller et al., 1991). Largescale production of small type I AFPs has been hampered by their instability when expressed in heterologous systems, and the common approaches for expressing small AFPs include expressing AFPs as fusion proteins, multimers, or secretory proteins. To overcome the difficulties associated with the small molecular size of AFP6, it was expressed in E. coli as a multimer and designed to be secreted into the medium to avoid degradation (Tong et al., 2000). The gene of AFP6 can be engineered to have more icebinding motifs which results in a longer version of AFP6 that has decreased solubility compare to shorter natural AFP6, so it can be accumulated in inclusion bodies of E. coli that is resistant to protease degradation (Solomon & Appels, 1999). Small type I skin AFPs have also been expressed in E. coli as a secretory protein to avoid degradation (Lin et al., 1999).

1.3.3 Fusion Proteins for the Expression of Type I AFPs in E. coli

Expressing AFP6 as a fusion protein could be used to overcome the drawbacks of its small molecular size. In the study by Mueller et al. (1991, above), the AFP-encoding sequence was fused in frame with the C-terminus of staphylococcal protein A (Mueller et al., 1991). Fusion proteins are proteins created through the joining of two or more ORFs of separate proteins, and the expression of the fusion gene can generate polypeptides with functional properties from each original protein (Riggs, 2001). Gene fusion has been widely used for improving protein expression, solubility, or purification in E. coli, it can also be used to simplify protein refolding and increase its efficiency, and to prevent proteolysis (Costa et al., 2014; Kosobokova, Skrypnik, & Kosorukov, 2016). An ideal fusion tag for AFP6 expression and purification should provide AFP6 degradation resistance while leaving the properties of AFP6 intact, and the expressed fusion protein should be easily retrievable from cell lysates, which can be accomplished by polyhistidine tag. The polyhistidine tag consists of six consecutive histidines, which form a Ni<sup>2+</sup> ion binding site. The imidazole side chain of histidine has a specific binding affinity towards nickel metal ion; therefore, proteins with polyhistidine tags can be affinity-purified using nickel (Spriestersbach et al., 2015). The DNA sequence encoding the polyhistidine can be added at either end of the DNA sequence that encodes the target protein, so the target protein can include polyhistidine at its N or C terminus.

Small ubiquitin-like modifier (SUMO) proteins belong to the ubiquitin-like protein family. They can be covalently attached to and removed from other proteins to modify their function in cells, and SUMOylation is a reversible post-translational modification that is involved many cellular processes (Hay, 2005; Peroutka III et al., 2011). It has been reported that the attachment of SUMO to the N-terminus of under-expressed proteins dramatically enhances the protein expression in *E. coli*, and it was also reported that the addition of a SUMO tag decreases proteolytic degradation (Butt et al., 2005; Cartier et al., 2019; Malakhov et al., 2004; Marblestone et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2011; Zuo et al., 2005). A SUMO fusion system joins the gene of SUMO to the genes of other proteins to express a fusion protein with SUMO on its N-terminal end, and SUMO on the expressed protein can be cleaved by SUMO protease through their endopeptidase activity (Panavas, Sanders, & Butt, 2009).

A fusion protein consists of polyhistidine tag (His), SUMO tag (SUMO), and AFP6 from N- to C- terminus could be ideal for the expression and purification of AFP6, since the His-SUMO-target protein construct was reported to have successful expression in *E. coli* intracellularly (Xu et al., 2012). When the fusion proteins were expressed, the polyhistidine-tag can be used to collect the fusion proteins. The SUMO tag can be cleaved from the fusion protein with the addition of SUMO protease to generate AFP6, and the polyhistidine-SUMO tags that are cleaved off can be collected by immobilization on a Ni<sup>2+</sup> column.

#### 1.4 The Modulation of Ice Nucleation by Antifreeze Proteins

# 1.4.1 Effects of Ice on Cells and Tissues

The modulation of ice nucleation has an impact on cryopreservation applications such as the cryopreservation of food, cells, or organs. The fact that cellular metabolism in living cells dramatically diminishes at low temperature allows for the long-term preservation of living cells and tissues, but nucleation of ice is the most significant uncontrolled variable in cryopreservation that leads to variation in cell recovery and viability (Gao & Critser, 2000; John Morris & Acton, 2013). In order to reduce ice nucleation variation in cryopreservation, a number of methods are used to introduce controlled ice nucleation, including seeding by small ice crystals, electrofreezing, mechanical shaking, introducing cold spot, or using chemical nucleators (Petersen et al., 2006). In addition, modulation of nucleation also helps with cell survival during cryopreservation, because the challenge to cell cryopreservation is not long-term storage at ultra-low temperature, but the -15 to -60°C temperature zone the cells need to travel through. Within this temperature range, ice forms in the external medium, while intracellular content remains supercooled, which can cause the supercooled water in the cell flows out of the cells osmotically (Mazur, 1984; Prickett et al., 2015). If the cooling is too rapid, insufficient cell water is removed to eliminate supercooling, which causes cells to freeze intracellularly, and intracellular ice formation has been linked to death of cells (Mazur, 1984; Prickett et al., 2015). However, if cells are cooled too slowly, the cells would experience volume shrinkage and expose to high solute concentration caused by water loss, and both could lead to cell damage (Mazur,

1984; Prickett et al., 2015). High subzero nucleation results in larger extracellular ice crystals and cell dehydration, while low subzero nucleation temperatures resulted in smaller ice crystals and intracellular ice formation; therefore, with the modulation of ice nucleation during cryopreservation, intracellular ice formation could be efficiently reduced to help with the survival of cells (Lauterboeck et al., 2015). When it comes to cells types such as embryos or oocytes that are sensitive to freezing injury, the control of ice nucleation is more important with these cells types or multicellular structures containing those cells (Diener et al., 1993). Also, multiple studies discovered that inducing extracellular ice formation at relatively warm supercooled temperatures is beneficial to the post-thaw viability of the cells as well (Lauterboeck et al., 2015; Prickett et al., 2015; Wolkers et al., 2007).

# 1.4.2 Ice Nucleation

Ice formation is one of the most common processes on earth, and nucleation is the initial event required for the formation of ice from liquid water. In liquid water, molecules move freely, and they are constantly mobile in a temperature-dependent fashion. In contrast, while in ice, water molecules are aligned to face the same direction in a rigid lattice. The mobility of water molecules diminishes as temperature decreases, but the spontaneous arrangement of water molecules into the correct pattern for ice formation below 0 °C is still improbable (Sosso et al., 2016). Lowering the temperature slows down

the movement of water molecules, but the slow-down is not sufficient for pure water to readily form ice until the temperatures drops to -40 °C, because water molecules do not tend to associate into a stable crystalline pattern that would constitute an ice nucleus (Fitzner et al., 2019; Zhang & Liu, 2018). In other words, ice nucleation is the initial step of freezing, and pure water cooled below freezing point would normally remain supercooled until a far lower temperature is reached. Nucleation requires small groups of molecules to arrange into order ice-like clusters, and this cluster acts as the nucleus to form ice crystals (Mathews et al., 1972; Sosso et al., 2016). The size of the nucleus is important for initiating freezing; a small nucleus is likely to be dissolved, while a large nucleus can cause more water molecules to join the arrangement to form ice crystals (Mathews et al., 2016).

Ice nucleation can occur in two ways: homogeneous ice nucleation and heterogeneous ice nucleation. Homogeneous ice nucleation can occur in pure water, as it is the formation of stable ice seeds by the association of water molecules. Homogenous nucleation does not require any exogenous ice template but it requires a very low temperature, because ice nucleation is a stochastic probability-defined event, and the probability of homogeneous ice nucleation is associated with the lowering of the temperature (Lu et al., 2020). Almost all ice nucleation occurs as a result of heterogenous nucleation, which is the formation of ice-like templates from non-water molecules and subsequent growth of ice from water on these templates. Although the initiation of homogenous nucleation is improbable until the temperatures falls to around -40°C, heterogenous nucleation can occur at a higher sub-

zero temperature due to the templating effect of non-water nucleation agents (Sosso et al., 2016). Many small molecules have been shown to be effective ice nucleation agents, including for example graphite, silver iodide, kaolinite and dust components (Metya & Singh, 2018; Perkins et al., 2019; Zielke, Bertram, & Patey, 2015). Silver iodide triggers ice nucleation, and this is thought to occur because the crystal lattice geometry of AgI corresponds to that of ice (Vonnegut, 2004). AgI is therefore used widely in cloud seeding; it can trigger ice nucleation in water at temperatures as high as -3 °C.

#### 1.4.3 Ice Nucleation and Ice-Nucleating Proteins

Non-water exogenous ice nucleating particles act as ice nuclei to trigger nucleation due to their specific ice-like surface properties, which reduce the energy barrier for freezing (Ling et al., 2018). There are a large variety of molecules that can trigger nucleation, biomolecules such as proteins can also catalyze or depress the heterogeneous ice nucleation by providing an site that stabilizes the formation of ice nucleus or leads to disordered structure (Eickhoff et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2016). It is well known that small antifreeze proteins adsorb to the surface of ice crystals to inhibit their growth, while larger ice-nucleating proteins (INPs) can trigger the formation of new ice crystals at temperatures much higher than the homogeneous ice nucleation temperature (Eickhoff et al., 2019). INPs appear to work by acting as a template to assemble the water molecules to act as an ice nucleus, while the smaller antifreeze proteins accumulate on the ice surface to inhibit the growth of the ice crystals (Kobashigawa et al., 2005).

Ice-nucleation active bacteria can promote the growth of ice at temperatures just below the freezing point to induce frost damage to plants, and this feature comes from their specialized INPs, which are known to induce nucleation at temperatures close to 0 °C (Lindow et al., 1982; Morris et al., 2004). Although the mechanisms of protein-induced ice nucleation are still unclear, there are studies suggesting that INPs can effectively order water at the surface of the bacteria (Kassmannhuber et al., 2020; Pandey et al., 2016). It was suggested that ice-binding in the repetitive domains of the INPs might be responsible for aligning water molecules in the seed crystal, which leads to the sudden crystallization of the surrounding liquid (Warren, 2013). The ice nucleating ability of INPs can be affected by several factors. Experimentation with truncated versions INPs revealed that the central repetitive region adopts a beta-helical structure that reorients at low temperature to order the water molecules and promote ice nucleation by increasing contact with water molecules (Roeters et al., 2021). Other studies observed that aggregates of INPs have increased ice nucleating activity, suggesting the ice nucleation activity of INPs could also be size-related (Burke & Lindow, 1990; Govindarajan & Lindow, 1988). The connection of INP size and ice nucleation activity was also supported by another study that reported truncated versions of a bacterial INP have decreased in-nucleating ability compare to the original INP (Ling et al., 2018).

# 1.4.4 Antifreeze Proteins and Ice Nucleation

It is known that the presence of AFP can inhibit the growth of macroscopic ice crystals, but the effect of AFP on ice nucleation is not as well studied as its ice growth inhibition activity, and conflicting results regarding the effect of AFP on ice nucleation has been reported. A study reported that the presence of antifreeze glycopeptides from the Antarctic cod lowered the heterogeneous nucleation temperature (Parody-Morreale et al., 1988), while another study also reported the presence of antifreeze glycopeptides from the Antarctic notothenioid inhibited the ice-nucleating activity of the bacterium *Erwinia* herbicola and it was hypothesized that AFPs inhibit heterogeneous ice nucleation by binding to mask the ice nucleation sites (Parody-Morreale et al., 1988; Wilson & Leader, 1995). A study regarding the effect of AFP on homogenous ice nucleation found that antifreeze glycoproteins isolated from some species of polar fish and overwintering insects were not able to depress homogenous ice nucleation any more than polyvinyl pyrrolidone, which is a polymer without thermal hysteresis activity (Franks et al., 1987). It was also reported that removing carbohydrates from an antifreeze glycoprotein did not noticeably alter the antifreeze activity, but caused diminished ice-nucleation activity, suggesting that antifreeze activity could be unrelated to the ice-nucleation activity of AFPs (Xu et al., 1998). Overall, the results of the studies described above suggest that the AFPs can inhibit heterogeneous ice nucleation, but the AFPs has little to no effect when it comes to homogenous ice nucleation.

A more recent study suggested that different sites of AFP can have distinct effects on

ice nucleation. When the surface of substrates are coated by the active site of AFP, the ice nucleation activity was enhanced compared to substrates that are coated with the inactive site of the AFP, suggesting that it is the active site of the AFP that is responsible for ice nucleation activity (Charpentier et al., 2013; Liu et al., 2016). Another study researching a portion of an INP also reported that the fragment of INP exhibited ice binding properties to shape an ice crystal, a concentration-dependent ice growth inhibition activity was also detected from this INP fragments (Kobashigawa et al., 2005). Furthermore, partially purified antifreeze protein isolated from the Antarctic notothenioid enhanced ice nucleation rather than inhibiting it at above 8 mg/mL concentration, suggesting that AFP with high enough concentration could act similarly to an INP (Wilson et al., 2010). The results from the studies described above provide supporting evidence that although AFPs and INPs have distinct biological roles, the mechanism behind their activities could be connected.

## **1.5 Research Objectives**

1.5.1 Evaluation of the Effects of AFP6 on Ice Nucleation

Although the freezing point depression resulting from AFP6 binding to ice has been well studied, the effect of this protein on ice nucleation remains unclear. Therefore, the objective of this study was to express AFP6 and related proteins in *E. coli* and purify them to study the factors of AFP6 that are important in modulating ice nucleation. AFP6 was expressed a series of fusion- and sequence-modified variants and ice nucleation effects
were examined. This study aimed to investigate the important factors of AFP6 in ice nucleation by studying the difference of ice nucleation activity of AFP6, AFP6 mutated to have no antifreeze activity, AFP6 fusion protein (His-SUMO-AFP), and the fusion tag control (His-SUMO). The results may contribute to the application of AFP in ice nucleation modulation, as well as providing structural and mechanistic insight into the modulation of ice nucleation by AFPs.

# CHAPTER 2: EXPRESSION AND CHARACTERIZATION OF AFP6 AND EXPERIMENTAL VARIANTS

#### **2.1 Introduction**

Winter flounder AFP6 is known to decrease the freezing point of water by absorption inhibition to ice crystals, but its effect on ice nucleation is not well studied, because many studies were conducted using semi-pure preparations of AFP (Schwidetzky et al., 2020; Wilson et al., 2010). In order to study the effect of AFP on ice nucleation, it is essential to obtain a purified form of AFP and AFP related proteins. It is impractical to obtain a large amount of pure AFP6 directly from the serum of winter flounder due to the presence of myriad isoforms, and synthetic AFP6 made in different companies are reported to behave inconsistently; therefore, expressing AFP6 in a heterologous system would appear to be a better approach (Fourney et al., 1984; Sands, 2020).

Although there are a wide range of expression systems and host species to be considered for AFP6 expression, *E. coli* was considered to be an ideal expression host in this project because it is relatively straightforward and inexpensive. AFP6 is a small protein and therefore expression as a fusion protein allowing clean N-terminal cleavage was sought in order to avoid interference in the native protein. In addition, a series of controls and variants, including fusion proteins and mutants, were required. Therefore, the AFP6 was expressed as a fusion with an N-terminal polyhistidine tag and a small ubiquitin-like modifier (SUMO) protein, which allowed a more complete analysis of the determinants of ice nucleation modulation.

## 2.2 Materials and Methods

2.2.1 Design of Expression Constructs for the Expression of AFP6 and Related Proteins

A sequence encoding SUMO and the AFP6 was designed and codon-optimized for expression in E. coli (Figure 3A). Synthetic double-stranded DNA with this sequence was manufactured (Bio-Basic) and cloned into the BamH1 site of the pET-15b plasmid vector by Bio-Basic (Figure 3B). A further expression construct of was designed based upon the above, but with a set of four mutations (A17L, T2S, T24S, T35S) chosen to eliminate thermal hysteresis activity while preserving the pI and molecular mass of the protein. The protein sequences of AFP6 and the mutant, designated MutAFP are aligned in Figure 4, as well as their helical net representations. The triple T to S mutant replaces the crucial amino acids responsible for ice binding, and the mutations inactivate its thermal hysteresis activity. The A17L mutation also inactivates the thermal hysteresis activity by hindering the interaction of ice binding side to ice crystals (Zhang & Laursen, 1998). These mutations were combined to produce the MutAFP, which has the same pI and MW as the wild type AFP (Baardsnes et al., 1999). A further control construct consisting only of the polyhis-SUMO, was also expressed. The variety of expression constructs and products are shown schematically in Figure 5. For clarity, shortened notation was adopted for each of the proteins and fusions: recombinant AFP6 (rAFP6) is referred to as AFP, mutated rAFP6 is denoted MutAFP and the polyhistidine tag is shortened to His.



Figure 3. Sequence and plasmid construct of His-SUMO-AFP. (A) Protein sequence of His-SUMO and AFP6. The sequences were codon-optimized for expression in *E. coli*. (B) Schematic diagram of the plasmid construct for His-SUMO-AFP constructed by BioBasic.



Figure 4. The aligned sequences and helical wheel of AFP6 and MutAFP. (A) Alignment of the sequences of AFP6 and MutAFP Sequences are shown in single letter code with substituted residues in MutAFP shown in red letters with yellow highlight. (B) Helical wheel of AFP6 and MutAFP. The arrowhead in the middle points toward the ice-binding face of the alpha helix. The image was generated using HeliQuest (Gautier et al., 2008).



Figure 5. Schematic representation of the expression of His-SUMO, His-SUMO-MutAFP, and His-SUMO-AFP. (A) The plasmid constructs for His-SUMO-AFP or His-SUMO-MutAFP constructed by BioBasic. Expression of the encoded sequence in *E. coli* resulted in the production of His-SUMO-AFP or His-SUMO-MutAFP fusion protein. The N-terminal His-tag was used to collect protein, while the mid SUMO portion can be cleaved to yield AFP or MutAFP. Upon the addition of SUMO protease that cleaves off the His-Sumo tag, AFP or MutAFP can be released. (B) The plasmid constructs for His-SUMO made by BioBasic. Expression of this plasmid results in the production of His-SUMO. This protein does not carry any AFP or related protein on the C-terminus, and this protein was used as a control.

#### 2.2.2 Expression of AFP6 and Related Proteins

The expression plasmids were transformed into *E. coli* BL21 using standard heat shock protocols. Cells were grown at 37 °C in LB medium containing ampicillin (50  $\mu$ g/mL) for 14 h, then transfered to large volume of LB medium containing ampicillin (50  $\mu$ g/mL) with a 1:100 ratio (v/v). The cells were grown to mid-log phase (OD600 of 0.8 to 1.2) and then induced by 0.8 mM IPTG at 37°C for 3 h for the expression of the His-SUMO-AFP fusion protein.

#### 2.2.3 Purification of His-SUMO and His-SUMO-AFP

Cells were harvested at centrifugation 9000g for 5 minutes at 4°C, then resuspended in lysis buffer (50 mM NaHPO<sub>4</sub>, 300 mM NaCl, pH 7.5). The resuspended cells were lysed using a French Pressure Cell Press (American Instrument Company), then subjected to centrifugation at 20,000g for 60 minutes at 4°C to remove insoluble material. The supernatant was collected and loaded onto a non-denaturing column packed with Ni-NTA Sepharose (Qiagen). The column was washed using lysis buffer (50 mM NaHPO<sub>4</sub>, 300 mM NaCl, pH 7.5) before the bound fusion proteins were eluted in an elution buffer (300 mM imidazole, 50 mM NaHPO<sub>4</sub>, 300 mM NaCl, pH 7.5).

#### 2.2.4 Purification of AFP and MutAFP

The purification of His-SUMO-AFP and His-SUMO-MutAFP was conducted according to the protocol described above. The purified fusion proteins of His-SUMO-AFP and His-SUMO-MutAFP were treated with His-tagged SUMO protease (expressed intracellularly in E. coli and purified according to the protocol described above in 2.2.3) to remove the His-SUMO tag. The SUMO protease was mixed with the fusion protein in a 1:500 ratio (mole/mole) and dialyzed against water at 4°C overnight to remove imidazole from the reaction solution. The solution was passed through a column of Ni-NTA Sepharose (Qiagen), allowing the tag-free recombinant AFP to flowed through the column and was collected as purified protein, while other proteins (His-SUMO tag, SUMO protease, and uncleaved protein) with His-tag remaining bound to the column. The purified AFP was dialyzed against deionized water for 5 cycles with 4 hours per cycle, then subjected to lyophilization. The purified AFP or MutAFP were dissolved in 10 mM ammonium bicarbonate (Thermo Fisher Scientific), pH 8.3, before use. This buffer reaches a pH of 8.3 without adjustment.

#### 2.2.5 SDS-PAGE of AFP6 and Related Proteins

Standard sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) gels were made by mixing acrylamide (10%, Thermo Fisher Scientific) with ammonium persulfate and tetramethylethylenediamine (Thermo Fisher Scientific) with a 50:5:1 ratio. The stacking gel was made by mixing 6% acrylamide with ammonium persulfate and tetramethylethylenediamine by a 1000:10:1 ratio. The gels were resolved under constant voltage at 200 V until the dye front reached the end of the gel. Following SDS-PAGE and staining by Coomassie Brilliant Blue R-250 dissolved in 45% methanol, 45% H<sub>2</sub>O, and 10% acetic acid (2.5g/L), the gel was destained by 30% methanol, 60% H<sub>2</sub>O, and 10% acetic acid.

For the visualization of antifreeze proteins, Pre-cast RunBlue<sup>TM</sup> TEO-Tricine SDS-PAGE gels with an acrylamide gradient of 4-20% were used with manufacturer-formulated RunBlue<sup>TM</sup> SDS running buffer and RunBlue<sup>TM</sup> LDS sample buffer. The gels were run according to the manufacturer's instructions. The gels were resolved under constant voltage at 100 V until the dye front reached the end of the gel. The gel was then stained by curcumin (Alfa Aesar) dissolved in deionized water (5mg/mL).

#### 2.2.6 Mass Spectrometry of AFP and MutAFP

Lyophilized AFP and MutAFP were dissolved in 10 mM ammonium bicarbonate with the concentration of 5  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ l, protein concentration was measured using a smallvolume spectrophotometer (DeNovix), and protein samples were sent to the Mass Spectrometry Laboratory (Department of Chemistry, Dalhousie University) for electrospray ionization (ESI) mass spectrometry analysis (Bruker Daltonics Compact QTOF system).

## 2.2.7 Circular Dichroism Spectroscopy

The secondary structures of AFP6 and MutAFP were examined by circular dichroism (CD), and the measurements were made using an OLIS DSM20 spectropolarimeter using a 0.2 cm cuvette. Solutions of 12.5 µM AFP6 and MutAFP were prepared in 10 mM ammonium bicarbonate. All samples and the buffer control were read at 4 °C with 40 increments between 200-250 nm. Each spectrum was collected three times and data were averaged by the system software. A buffer blank was analyzed in the same manner and subtracted from each protein spectrum. Then, unit conversion was conducted based on the known path length and protein concentrations used.

## 2.2.8 Thermal Hysteresis Measurement and Ice Crystal Morphology

Solutions of 1.5 mM AFP6, MutAFP, His-SUMO, and His-SUMO-AFP6 were made in 10 mM ammonium bicarbonate. Each solution was then diluted to appropriate concentrations before subjecting to thermal hysteresis measurements using a Clifton Nanolitre Osmometer and a compound microscope (Olympus). Thermal hysteresis was determined by observing the increase in size of a single ice crystal (freezing point) and the decrease in size of the same crystal (melting point). Hysteresis values were calculated as the means of triplicate measurements on separate crystals in separate sample wells. The temperature interval between these points was the thermal hysteresis. Buffer blank measurements were performed in the same manner and the resulting background hysteresis was subtracted from each above measurement. To evaluate ice morphology, images of representative ice crystals formed in the presence of each protein were recorded using a microscope camera (AmScope). Measurements and imaging were carried out by Dr. Kathryn Vanya Ewart.

## 2.3 Results

2.3.1 Expression and Purification of Fusion Proteins and Derived AFPs

The His-SUMO control protein was expressed in *E. coli* and purified. Samples of the expression culture and purification fractions were resolved by SDS-PAGE (Figure 6) The majority of the fusion protein was soluble, as it was present in the supernatant fraction (Sn, Figure 6). The His-SUMO was efficiently recovered in the elution buffer (E1, Figure 6), and the yield was 46 mg/L. The His-SUMO-MutAFP and His-SUMO-AFP were expressed in *E. coli* as shown in Figure 7, both had a band with an identical molecular mass with the target protein in the starter culture, and both proteins were expressed after induction.

The purification of His-SUMO-MutAFP followed the same protocol as His-SUMO and is shown in Figure 8. The impurities were efficiently removed in flow through and washes as well, and the His-SUMO-MutAFP was highly soluble. After the SUMO cleavage reaction, around 50% of the His-SUMO-MutAFP was cleaved to release His-SUMO and MutAFP, although the cleaving efficiency was not ideal, the subsequent reverse purification efficiently removed the uncleaved protein and the His-SUMO from the mixture to yield MutAFP with high purity, and the yield of MutAFP was 16 mg/L. The purification of His-SUMO-AFP followed the same protocol as His-SUMO and His-SUMO-MutAFP (Figure 9A), with His-SUMO-AFP behaving similarly to His-SUMO-MutAFP. A portion of the His-SUMO-AFP was collected to be used in the subsequent experiments, the remainder of the His-SUMO-AFP was used for the purification of AFP as shown in Figure 9B, and the yield of AFP was 6 mg/L.

The presence of 2 M urea in the SUMO cleavage reaction mixture accelerated the reaction to release more AFP, as shown in Figure 10. It appeared that the longer incubation time caused little or no difference in the cleavage since the amount of His-SUMO-AFP in 24 h and 48 h were similar, while the cleavage efficiency was improved in the presence of 2 M urea, as shown by the noticeable difference between the amount of His-SUMO-AFP in 48h and 48h with 2 M urea. The increase in efficiency at this step increased the final yield of AFP6 to 10 mg/mL from the original 6 mg/mL.

Each of the purified proteins was lyophilized and dissolved in 10 mM ammonium bicarbonate when required. The purified His-SUMO, His-SUMO-MutAFP, His-SUMO-AFP, and AFP were run on a gradient gel and stained by curcumin as shown in Figure 11, and each of them showed a uniform band. Despite of having identical molecular weights, MutAFP and AFP showed different migration as MutAFP ran faster than AFP on the same gradient gel (Figure 11).



Figure 6. SDS-PAGE analysis of the expression and purification of His-SUMO. Expression was carried out as described in the Materials and Methods and products were resolved in a 10% polyacrylamide gel and stained with Coomassie blue. Lanes are: M, marker; St, starter culture; U, uninduced; 1, 1 hour after induction; 2, 2 hours after induction; 3, 3 hours after induction; Sn, cell lysis supernatant; Pel, cell lysis pellet; FT, flow through; W1, first wash;, W2, second wash; E1, first elution; E2, second elution.



Figure 7. SDS-PAGE analysis of the expression of His-SUMO-MutAFP and His-SUMO-AFP. Expression was carried out as described in the Materials and Methods and products were resolved in a 10% polyacrylamide gel and stained with Coomassie blue. Panel A shows His-SUMO-MutAFP and Panel B shows His-SUMO-AFP. Lanes for both gels are: M, marker; St, starter culture; U, uninduced; 1, 1 hour after induction; 2, 2 hours after induction; 3, 3 hours after induction.



Figure 8. SDS-PAGE analysis of the purification of MutAFP. Purification was carried out as described in the Materials and Methods and products were resolved in a 10% polyacrylamide gel and stained with Coomassie blue. Lanes are: M, marker; I, after induction; S, cell lysis supernatant; P, cell lysis supernatant; FT, flow through; W1, first wash;, W2, second wash; E1, first elution; E2, second elution; Sn, supernatant after dialysis; Pel, pellet after dialysis; 1, first flow though; 2, second flow through; 3, third flow through; Beads, beads samples after flow through.



Figure 9. SDS-PAGE analysis of the purification of His-SUMO-AFP. Purification was carried out as described in the Materials and Methods and products were resolved in a 10% polyacrylamide gel and stained with Coomassie blue. Panel (a) Lanes are: M, marker; P, cell lysis pellet; S, cell lysis supernatant; FT, flow through; W1, first wash; W2, second wash; W3, third wash; E1, first elution; E2, second elution. (b) SDS-PAGE analysis of the purification of AFP. Purification was carried out as described in the Materials and Methods and products were resolved in a 10% polyacrylamide gel and stained with Coomassie blue. Lanes are: M, marker; E, elution; Cl, after SUMO-protease cleave; 1, first flow through; 2, second flow through; 3, third flow through.



Figure 10. SDS-PAGE analysis of the SUMO-protease cleaving of His-SUMO-AFP. The protocol was carried out as described in the Materials and Methods and products were resolved in a 10% polyacrylamide gel and stained with Coomassie blue. Lanes are: M, marker; 24 h, 24 hours after incubating with SUMO-protease; 48 h, 48 hours after incubating with SUMO-protease; 48 h, 48 hours after protease with the presence of 2 M urea.



Figure 11. SDS-PAGE of purified MutAFP (10 $\mu$ g), AFP (10 $\mu$ g), His-SUMO (4 $\mu$ g), and His-SUMO-AFP (4 $\mu$ g) visualized by curcumin staining. Dissolved His-SUMO, MutAFP, AFP, and His-SUMO-AFP were run on a RunBlue<sup>TM</sup> TEO-Tricine SDS-PAGE gels with an acrylamide gradient of 4-20% and stained using curcumin.

## 2.3.2 Mass Spectrometry

After visualizing MutAFP and AFP on a gradient gel, both proteins were subjected to mass spectrometry as shown in figure 12 and 13. The mass of MutAFP and AFP were consistent with their expected mass of 3.24 kDa, although the deconvoluted data exhibited multiple peaks with masses that corresponded to those of AFP and MutAFP. Further peaks at slightly higher masses were consistent with the presence of small ion adducts. Both MutAFP and AFP showed identical masses, consistent with their sequences.

#### 2.3.3 Circular Dichroism Spectroscopy

The secondary structures of MutAFP and AFP6 were further compared using 12.5  $\mu$ M protein samples, as shown in Figure 14. AFP6 showed a typical alpha-helical CD spectrum at 4 °C with two strong minima at 208 and 222 nm, consistent with proper folding of the protein (Patel & Graether, 2010). The spectrum of MutAFP at 4 °C corresponds to that of AFP, with the same strong minima. Nonetheless, the molar ellipticity of MutAFP is less negative compared to AFP6 in the vicinity of 208 nm, resulting in a higher  $\theta_{222}/\theta_{208}$  ratio.



Figure 12. Mass spectrum of MutAFP. MutAFP protein was dissolved in 10 mM ammonium bicarbonate. Panel A: protein mass ion spectrum; panel B: deconvoluted spectrum.



Figure 13. Mass spectrum of AFP. AFP protein powder was dissolved in 10 mM ammonium bicarbonate. Panel A: protein mass ion spectrum; panel B: deconvoluted spectrum.



Figure 14. Circular dichroism spectroscopy of MutAFP and AFP. Each protein was prepared to a concentration of 12.5  $\mu$ M in 10 mM ammonium bicarbonate.

## 2.3.4 Thermal Hysteresis

His-SUMO, MutAFP, AFP, and His-SUMO-AFP were subjected to thermal hysteresis analysis and the morphologies of ice crystals were evaluated in their presence. Ice crystals were formed in the presence of each protein or in the buffer control to study the thermal hysteresis, which is a separation of the freezing point and the melting point as described in the methods, at a series of concentrations of each protein were shown in Figure 15. Ice crystals grew smoothly with no expressed crystal faces in the presence of His-SUMO or buffer alone, resulting in rounded morphologies. In contrast, ice crystals were shaped into bipyramid structure in the presence of AFP6 or His-SUMO-AFP. The bipyramidal structure of ice crystals in the presence of AFP6. In the presence of MutAFP, the ice crystal expressed hexagonal crystal faces consistent with the inhibition of growth normal to their surfaces. However, consistent with low or "trace" levels of antifreeze activity, no elongation of the ice crystal to a bipyramid was observed.

The concentration-dependent thermal hysteresis activities of His-SUMO, MutAFP, AFP, and His-SUMO-AFP were shown in Figure 16. MutAFP and His-SUMO showed little to no thermal hysteresis beyond background at any concentration. This is in agreement with the smooth crystals in the presence of His-SUMO and the hexagonal crystals in the presence of MutAFP. The interaction of latter is not strong enough to prevent ice growth. The His-SUMO-AFP and AFP both showed strong concentration dependence in their thermal hysteresis activity, with very similar activities on a concentration basis,

suggesting that the addition of the His-SUMO domain to AFP6 has little or no effect on its thermal hysteresis activities.



Figure 15. Ice crystals formed in the presence of 1.5 mM AFP and control constructs. The His-SUMO, MutAFP, AFP, His-SUMO-AFP proteins in 10 mM ammonium bicarbonate buffer and the buffer control were observed. Images are labeled with the protein name, or buffer for the buffer control. The white line in each image represents 50 microns. (These data were obtained by Dr. Kathryn Vanya Ewart.)



Figure 16. Concentration-dependent thermal hysteresis of His-SUMO, His-SUMO-AFP, MutAFP and AFP. Measurements were performed on each protein and background values for the buffer control were subtracted. Values shown are means  $\pm$  SD for triplicate samples. (These data were obtained by Dr. Kathryn Vanya Ewart.)

## **2.4 Discussion**

#### 2.4.1 Optimizing the SUMO-Protease Cleaving Efficiency

AFP was expressed as fusion protein with SUMO and a removable protein tag for affinity purification, and the His-SUMO-AFP was successfully expressed in E. coli at relatively high yields in the vicinity of 50 mg/L. The release of AFP from the fusion proteins requires the presence of SUMO-protease to catalyze the cleaving via its endopeptidase activity, and the SDS-PAGE results from Figure 8 and 9 indicated a cleaving efficiency of approximately 50%. Following purification, desalting and lyophilization, this results in final yields of pure AFP of approximately 6 mg/L. It was unclear why the cleavage slowed down when approximately 50% of the His-SUMO-AFP was cleaved as shown in Figure 10, while there was little or no enzyme activity between 24h and 48h. It appeared unlikely that the cleaving was limited by the solubility of His-SUMO-AFP over time, since SUMO tag was reported to be soluble as well as the AFP (Dubé et al., 2016; Zuo et al., 2005). Nonetheless, in 2 M urea, SUMO cleavage efficiency increased, which raised the final yield of AFP to 10 mg/L. This finding might indicate that the slowed cleaving could due to masking of the cleavage site by native folding of His-SUMO-AFP, since urea is well known to promote protein unfolding, while SUMOprotease itself was reported to retain its functions in 2 M urea (Li et al., 2018). The presence of 2M urea improved the efficiency of obtaining AFP from His-SUMO-AFP, and the same method was applied for the purification of MutAFP from His-SUMO-MutAFP.

#### 2.4.2 Characterizations of AFP and Related Proteins

As expected, MutAFP and AFP showed identical masses when analyzed by MS, since they were designed to have the same molecular mass. However, the SDS-PAGE results for these proteins revealed very different migration patterns. With a molecular weight of 3.3 kDa, AFP was expected to run ahead of the 10 kDa marker band, but the AFP ran well behind the 10 kDa band at a position expected for a far larger protein. In contrast, the MutAFP migrated faster than the 10 kDa band, consistent with its molecular weight. AFP was previously shown to migrate much slower than expected on SDS-PAGE (Fourney et al., 1984). Furthermore, inconsistency between molecular weight and protein migration in SDS-PAGE appears to be a common phenomenon for membrane proteins or small helical peptides, and increased alpha helicity appears to be associated with slower migration on SDS-PAGE (Rath et al., 2009). The substantial difference in migration between the highly similar AFP and MutAFP may be informative in term of identifying the sequence determinants of abnormal migration.

The greater  $\theta_{222}/\theta_{208}$  ratio of MutAFP compared to AFP may indicate an increased helicity and likelihood of association into a coiled coil, although this would depend upon conditions (Crooks, Rao, & Mason, 2011; Kwok & Hodges, 2004). The inconsistency between the SDS-PAGE and mass spectrometry results of AFP could therefore be caused by differences in helicity compared to MutAFP, causing it to migrate slower than MutAFP on SDS-PAGE.

The absence of thermal hysteresis for MutAFP was consistent with the study that

reported moderate to complete loss of antifreeze activity caused by the substitution of Thr by Ser (Baardsnes et al., 1999; Zhang & Laursen, 1998). MutAFP showed no thermal hysteresis activity, and it exhibited no concentration dependence, although ice crystals formed in the presence of 1.5 mM MutAFP still exhibited straight edges, consistent with trace-level ice binding activity. However, the lack of thermal hysteresis activity of MutAFP indicated that the slight ice binding activity of MutAFP was insufficient to cause measurable thermal hysteresis. As expected, ice crystals formed in the presence of 1.5 mM AFP exhibited bipyramidal structures, which is an indication of the AFP binding altering the formation of the ice crystals as they grow (Drori et al., 2014). The concentrationdependent thermal hysteresis activity of AFP was also consistent with previous studies. The expression of AFP in *E. coli* results in a protein lacking the native C-amidation. The protein expressed here showed concentration-dependent thermal hysteresis activity consistent with that of the same non-amidated protein expressed in a similar way (Patel & Graether, 2010), but approximately half of that reported for the non-amidated AFP at 1.5 mM when expressed using a different system (Tong et al., 2000). Meanwhile, the ice crystal and thermal hysteresis data of His-SUMO-AFP were almost identical to AFP, suggesting nearly identical ice binding and thermal hysteresis activities between His-SUMO-AFP and AFP. The results also suggested that the comparatively large size of His-SUMO tag did not affect the antifreeze function of AFP, which could indicate that the His-SUMO tag and AFP are locationally independent from each other such that His-SUMO does not interfere with AFP functioning despite its comparatively larger size. On the other

hand, in studies using the unrelated Type III fish AFP, the addition of fusion proteins including maltose-binding protein and thioredoxin increased the thermal hysteresis (DeLuca, Comley, & Davies, 1998). Direct comparison is difficult because different fusion proteins and different AFPs were used. Nonetheless, it is unclear whether the SUMO has no appreciable effect on the activity of the AFP or whether it has both enhancing and reducing effects on activity that together result in no net change.

# CHAPTER 3: EVALUATION OF THE EFFECTS OF AFP ON ICE NUCLEATION

#### **3.1 Introduction**

The modulation of ice nucleation is important for the survival of many organisms in different kingdoms. For example, as noted above, the INPs of ice-nucleating bacteria allow them to obtain nutrients by inducing frost damage on plants and some freeze-tolerant animal species also using INPs to trigger freezing at high sub-zero temperatures (Lindow et al., 1982). In the case of many freeze-tolerant plants and insects, the promotion of ice nucleation at high sub-zero temperatures prevents explosive freezing, and the slower freezing that occurs at higher sub-zero temperatures allows enough time for the equilibration of the osmotic pressure between freezing extracellular and unfrozen intracellular fluids (Lindow et al., 1982; Ramløy, 2000; Rozsypal, 2015). Modulation of ice nucleation can also be applied in the field of cryopreservation, since ice nucleation is the most significant uncontrolled variable in cryopreservation (John Morris & Acton, 2013; Petersen et al., 2006). It was also found that the inducing extracellular ice formation at relatively warm supercooled temperature is beneficial to the post-thaw viabilities of cells, and this requires precise control of ice nucleation (Lauterboeck et al., 2015; Prickett et al., 2015; Wolkers et al., 2007). Therefore, understanding of ice nucleation and its modulation is pertinent to understanding biological adaptations as well as to the development of new freezing technologies. Thus, the study of ice nucleation could provide the understanding necessary or technological improvement for its effective modulation.

Many of the nucleation-modulating agents in nature are known to be proteinaceous,

and ice nucleating proteins (INPs) that induce ice nucleation at high sub-zero temperature are well studied (Roeters et al., 2021). Many studies have reported related or opposing relationships between INPs and AFPs and among these are contrasting results. A fish AFGP (antifreeze glycoprotein) was found to counter the effects of bacterial ice nucleation proteins, presumably by binding directly to ice nucleators (Parody-Morreale et al., 1988). Yet, a more recent study has found that several other AFPs do not share this effect, and that the effect of Type I AFP might be due to bacterial surface binding instead of ice or INP interaction (Schwidetzky et al., 2020). The same study also suggested nucleation enhancement with AFP, but mixed isoform and semi-pure preparations appear to have been used and no account of protein purity was provided in these studies (Schwidetzky et al., 2020). In another study employing Type III fish AFP and a beetle AFP, contrasting effects on ice nucleation were attributed to roles of the non-ice binding face of the AFPs (Liu et al., 2016). A semi-pure preparation containing a mixture of Type I AFP isoforms and possibly other proteins appeared to inhibit nucleation at moderate concentrations but slightly induce it at higher levels; however, the role of proteins other than AFP was unclear (Wilson et al., 2010). Furthermore, an expressed fragment of an ice nucleating protein revealed antifreeze activity rather than nucleation (Kobashigawa et al., 2005). Therefore, the relationship between AFPs and ice nucleation remains unclear and different proteins, protein mixtures, purity levels and assay conditions have precluded comparison among results. For these reasons, it was of interest to examine aspects of AFP and ice nucleation using the simplest AFP in pure form and in a system allowing a variety of controls to be

used. This can provide important information regarding the connection between INPs and AFPs, as well as revealing factors that might allow precise control of nucleation modulation for technological applications.

#### **3.2 Materials and Methods**

## 3.2.1 Preparation of Buffers and Protein Samples

The 10 mM ammonium bicarbonate buffer was prepared as described in Chapter 2 and filtered through a 0.2 µm membrane (Avantor) for some experiments to reduce the level of background particulate nucleator presence for other experiments. AgI (99%, Sigma-Aldrich) was used in some experiments. Lyophilized preparations of recombinant AFP, MutAFP, His-SUMO, and His-SUMO-AFP were dissolved in 10 mM ammonium bicarbonate to give solutions with concentrations of 5 mM, where possible, and lower concentrations where proteins had more limited solubility. Further control proteins included bovine serum albumin (BSA, Sigma-Aldrich) and lysozyme (Worthington). The concentrations were measured by ultraviolet light absorbance using a small-volume spectrophotometer (DeNovix) following the manufacturer's instructions.

#### 3.2.2 Ice Nucleation Analysis by the Droplet Assay

Protein solutions at a concentration of 5 mM were diluted to 1.5, 0.5, and 0.15 mM. A thin layer of Vaseline<sup>TM</sup> (Unilever) was applied on the surface of a 6" x 1" aluminum pie dish (No Name<sup>TM</sup>, Loblaws). For each sample analysis, 20 droplets of 2 µL each were pipetted into a grid formation on the Vaseline<sup>TM</sup> surface. Buffer controls were analyzed in the same manner. Typical sets of droplet in ordered grid arrangements are shown in Figure 17A.

In some experiments, AgI was used as an ice nucleator in order to induce freezing. This was achieved by distributing a fine dusting of AgI powder on to the Vaseline by a spatula before applying the sample droplets on the layer of AgI power. A set of droplets on an AgI-powdered surface is shown in Figure 17B.

Once the droplets were applied, the dish was placed inside a refrigerated circulating bath with temperature stability of  $\pm$  0.1 °C (VWR). The opening of the circulating chiller was covered by a layer of transparent plastic wrap to allow observation while preventing condensation on the cold surfaces. The temperature of the circulating bath was set to 0 °C or another appropriate starting temperature and dropped by 0.5 °C increments at 10 minute intervals. The number of frozen droplets was determined at each temperature until all 20 droplets were frozen or when the temperature reached -20 °C, resulting in a cumulative freezing curve.

## 3.2.3 Data Analysis

For triplicate samples, mean freezing droplet numbers were determined at each temperature and a cumulative freezing curve was plotted. Data were fitted to a variableslope agonist-response curve and plotted with droplet freezing as a function of temperature in Prism (GraphPad).



Figure 17. Droplet assay for ice nucleation study. (A) Droplets in ordered grid for ice nucleation study at low sub-zero temperatures. Clear droplets are liquid and opaque droplets are frozen. (B) A set of droplets in the presence of AgI for high sub-zero temperature ice nucleation study. All droplets in this image are frozen.

## **3.3 Results**

#### 3.3.1 Effect of AFP Samples on AgI-Induced Ice Nucleation

MutAFP, AFP, and His-SUMO-AFP, were subjected to droplet assays along with His-SUMO, BSA, lysozyme, and buffer as controls, all at 1.5 mM, in the presence of the nucleator AgI (Figure 18). Lysozyme and BSA showed little or no inhibition of ice nucleation compared with buffer alone, as their cumulative freezing curves approached that of the buffer. Contrary to what was expected, the His-SUMO and MutAFP, which have no measurable antifreeze activity, delayed the onset of freezing by approximately a degree and the AFP and His-SUMO-AFP shifted it further. Freezing appeared to be most inhibited by His-SUMO-AFP, as the freezing onset was delayed and freezing was not complete until -7 °C, which was a full degree below complete freezing of the other samples (Figure. 18). The concentration dependence of the high sub-zero freezing profile of AFP was also measured (Figure 19). Ice nucleation inhibition by AFP exhibited strong concentration dependence, with greater inhibition at higher concentrations. The concentration-dependent freezing of other proteins were also measured (Figure 20). Nucleation inhibition in the presence of all concentrations of BSA was indistinguishable from buffer alone and that in lysozyme appeared to increase very slightly. All AFPcontaining proteins showed some concentration dependence in ice nucleation suppression and the non-AFP construct, His-SUMO, showed some concentration-dependent effect as well. The results suggest that modest inhibition of high sub-zero temperature ice nucleation is a property shared to different extents by control proteins but that appears

greater for the AFP-containing proteins.



Figure 18. High subzero temperature freezing profile of proteins in the presence of AgI. 1.5 mM His-SUMO, MutAFP, AFP, lysozyme, BSA, His-SUMO-AFP in 10 mM ammonium bicarbonate buffer as well as buffer alone. Values shown are means  $\pm$  SD for triplicate sample assays.


Figure 19. High sub-zero concentration-dependent freezing profile of AFP in the presence of AgI. Values shown are means  $\pm$  SD for triplicate sample assays for the protein in 10 mM ammonium bicarbonate buffer and for buffer alone.



Figure 20. High sub-zero concentration-dependent freezing profile of AFP-related proteins and control proteins in the presence of AgI. Panels A-E are BSA, lysozyme, MutAFP, His-SUMO and His-SUMO-AFP, respectively. Values shown are means  $\pm$  SD for triplicate sample assays for proteins in 10 mM ammonium bicarbonate buffer and for buffer alone.

#### 3.3.2 Effect of AFP Samples on Natural Ice Nucleation

The low temperature droplet assay that studies the natural freezing profile of the samples was conducted in the absence of exogenous nucleators, and the assay was initially performed using unfiltered buffer. This was informative, as the moderate background nucleation allowed an assessment of the effects of AFPs and control proteins at lower temperatures. While all the proteins inhibited the onset of nucleation compared to buffer alone, the AFP then triggered rapid nucleation beginning at -17.5 °C and with all droplets frozen by -18.5 °C (Figure 21A).

In order to further examine this phenomenon, experiments were carried out in filtered buffer in order to reduce background nucleation. When the protein solutions prepared in filtered buffers were subjected to droplet assays, no nucleation was detected in any sample above -17 °C and it remained below 10% down to -20 °C for the buffer and all proteins except for the AFP. The AFP samples did not begin freezing until -17 °C, similarly to the other proteins; however, the AFP samples then froze readily, being half frozen at approximately -18 °C and fully frozen at -20 °C (Figure 21B). Thus, in the presence of AFP, nucleation did not begin at an elevated temperature, but it progressed far more rapidly than in any other sample. Following this experiment, nucleation by the AFP was assayed over a series of concentrations. Concentration dependence was shown, as nucleation increased between concentrations of 0.15 and 1.5 mM, but did not increase further at 5 mM AFP (Figure 22). Given this result, the other proteins were assayed at similar concentrations, within their solubility ranges and none appeared to show any concentration-dependent effects on nucleation as shown in Figure 23.



Figure 21. Low sub-zero concentration-dependent freezing profile of AFP, AFP-related proteins and control proteins in the absence of exogenous nucleators. (A) Freezing profile of 1.5 mM BSA, His-SUMO, MutAFP, His-SUMO-AFP, and AFP. (B) Freezing profile of 1.5 mM BSA, lysozyme, MutAFP, His-SUMO, His-SUMO-AFP, and AFP, and 10 mM ammonium bicarbonate buffer. Values shown are means  $\pm$  SD for triplicate sample assays for proteins in 10 mM ammonium bicarbonate buffer and for buffer alone.



Figure 22. Low sub-zero concentration-dependent freezing profile of AFP in the absence of exogenous nucleators. Values shown are means  $\pm$  SD for triplicate sample assays for proteins in 10 mM ammonium bicarbonate buffer and for buffer alone.



Figure 23. Low sub-zero concentration-dependent freezing profile of AFP-related proteins and control proteins in the absence of exogenous nucleators. Panels A-E are BSA, lysozyme, MutAFP, His-SUMO and His-SUMO-AFP, respectively. Values shown are means  $\pm$  SD for triplicate sample assays for proteins in 10 mM ammonium bicarbonate buffer and for buffer alone.

# **3.4 Discussion**

The phenomenon in which aqueous solutions remain in the liquid state when cooled below the point of fusion is known as supercooling. Solutions may supercool to varying degrees before ice forms by nucleation, and the temperature at which spontaneous nucleation occurs is the nucleation temperature (Kristiansen, 2001). As noted in the Introduction, homogeneous and heterogeneous nucleation are different from one another (Kanji et al., 2017). In heterogeneous ice nucleation, a particle in the solution or a surface upon which is placed forms a structure compatible with an ice surface. As the temperature decreases, water begins to stably rest on this structure, forming hydrogen bonds, and an embryo crystal forms (Knight, 2005). This happens at a higher temperature than homogeneous nucleation (Knight, 2005).

#### 3.4.1 Effects of Proteins on AgI-Nucleated Ice

The dose-dependent inhibitory effect of AFP on heterogenous ice nucleation induced by AgI at high sub-zero temperatures was consistent with previous findings from studies of AFGP (Parody-Morreale et al., 1988) and a flounder AFP preparation (Schwidetzky et al., 2020). However, by using pure recombinant AFP, the current study reveals that the effect is due to the specified protein and not a secondary protein or salt contaminant. In addition, the use of non-AFP controls allowed the general effects of protein presence to be distinguished from specific ice binding effects of AFPs.

There are few reports in the literature regarding the possible effects of non-INP

proteins on ice nucleation; however, the freezing profile of the two unrelated control proteins, BSA and lysozyme, in AgI-induced nucleation approached the freezing profile of the buffer control, indicating that they had little or no effect on ice nucleation. In addition, the concentration dependence of the nucleation curves for these proteins showed no appreciable variation. Although lysozyme and BSA showed no discernable effect, the His-SUMO protein and MutAFP appeared to lower the nucleation temperature somewhat, with His-SUMO lowering it by close to a degree. The concentration dependence of their effect were also evident in this study, although they were both shown not to have antifreeze activity in Chapter 2. These proteins may each have a surface with a set of polar residues that interact weakly with water to prevent ice formation or that interact with a particular surface of the AgI. This question will require further study.

# 3.4.2 Inhibition of Nucleation by AFP and Other Proteins

Both ice nucleation suppression and ice crystal absorption inhibition can contribute to freeze avoidance. Type I AFPs are known to inhibit the growth of ice crystal by absorbing to the crystal surface to make the addition of water molecules energetically unfavorable (Salvay et al., 2010). Nonetheless, water molecule aggregates (ice nuclei) critical for ice nucleation may be too small to be allow AFPs to adsorb and block ice growth, and therefore, the absorption inhibition of AFP would have no effect on the initiation of ice nucleation (Wilson & Leader, 1995). AFPs have been found to inhibit ice nucleation to an

extent comparable to polyvinyl-pyrrolidone, which is a material without thermal hysteresis activity, suggesting that the absorption inhibition of AFP on ice crystals does not apply to the suppression of embryonic ice clusters (Franks et al., 1987). A simulation study also indicated that the ice nucleation suppression is achieved by a mechanism different from absorption inhibition of ice crystals, the study suggested that the ice binding site of AFP promotes ice nucleation due to the ice crystals being energetically stable on the ice binding face (Liu et al., 2016). Although the same study also suggested that disordered liquid water is energetically more stable on the non-ice-binding site of AFP, causing the non-icebinding site of AFP to depress ice nucleation. Other studies also suggested that ice binding site and non-ice binding site of AFP work synergistically with ice binding site binds to ice crystals leaving non-ice binding site exposed to liquid water to depress ice nucleation (Celik et al., 2013; Duman, 2001). In this context, the current finding that AFP enhances ice nucleation at low subzero temperatures in the absence of AgI along with the absence of this activity in proteins including His-SUMO-AFP and MutAFP is informative. These results suggest a clear role for ice binding in the promotion of ice nucleation. In contrast, the modest inhibition of AgI-induced ice nucleation by the active AFPs together with the detectable effect of other non-AFP proteins on that phenomenon is incremental and may not be directly associated with active ice binding. If the ice nucleation inhibition by AFP in this context is due to masking of the ice nucleating surfaces on AgI (Inada et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2016), then it is possible that non-AFPs that interact even very weakly with AgI might lower the nucleation temperature.

### 3.4.3 Nucleation Inhibition and Promotion

In the winter flounder, AFPs do not appear to have a role in preventing ice crystals from forming. Instead, they are absorbed onto existing ice crystals to inhibit their growth. Yet, as suggested above, there may be some relationship between ice binding and the modulation of nucleation. Since small AFPs absorb to ice crystals to inhibit their growth, while large INPs trigger the formation of new ice crystals at temperatures higher than the homogeneous ice nucleation temperature, it was hypothesized that both AFP and INPs act base on the same principle due to their similarity of interaction with ice (Eickhoff et al., 2019). This is consistent with the report of antifreeze activity in an INP-derived peptide (Kobashigawa et al., 2005). A simulation study also suggested that AFP increases the homogeneous nucleation temperature, and the increase repeats of AFP is associated with further increased homogeneous nucleation temperature, which indicates that AFP might work based on the same principle with INPs but with different sizes (Qiu, Hudait, & Molinero, 2019).

Given that increasing AFP repeats appears to increase nucleation (Qiu et al., 2019) and that extracting a single repeat unit from an INP gives an AFP (Kobashigawa et al., 2005), the role of repeat number (or aggregation) on a conversion in activity from ice nucleation inhibition to ice nucleation promotion could be hypothesized to result from this kind of difference. AFP does have aggregation properties. When frozen and thawed at high concentrations, the AFP form of amyloid fibers (Dubé et al., 2016; Graether et al., 2003). The low sub-zero temperature freezing profile of AFP in this study shows that the higher concentration of AFP is associated with higher ice nucleation temperature, and the higher AFP concentration are also known to be associated with AFP aggregation, which may suggest that the high concentration of AFP causes aggregation, thereby mimicking the large size of INPs to increase ice nucleation temperature.

# 3.4.4 The Effect of SUMO Domain and Ice Binding Activity on AFP6 Ice Nucleation

His-SUMO-AFP did not show any low sub-zero temperature ice nucleation promotion. Unlike MutAFP, the AFP portion of the His-SUMO-AFP was identical to AFP, and the thermal hysteresis activity data suggests that its AFP portion has near-identical thermal hysteresis activity to AFP (Chapter 3). The results indicate that the His-SUMO domain can prevent the AFP from inducing ice nucleation at low sub-zero temperature. The molecular weight of His-SUMO (~14 kDa) is larger than AFP (~3.3 kDa), and it is possible that the presence of His-SUMO domain on AFP could prevent AFP from undergoing an aggregation process at high concentration. Although, it is still unclear how the His-SUMO domain prevents AFP from enhancing nucleation, it is unlikely that it is prevented by the His-SUMO domain wrapping around the AFP portion, since the thermal hysteresis activity is maintained on His-SUMO-AFP.

### 3.4.5 Concluding Remarks

The aim of the study was to observe the effect of AFP and related proteins (His-SUMO-AFP, His-SUNO, and MutAFP) on ice nucleation, and the results revealed several factors that may have roles. AFP is capable of inhibiting ice nucleation induced by ice nucleating agents, suggesting a possible interaction between AFP and the ice nucleator AgI. In contrast, at lower temperatures in the absence of AgI, AFP was also found to be capable of promoting ice nucleation, and this effect was not detected in the inactive mutant, MutAFP, suggesting an involvement of the ice binding site of AFP in ice nucleation. The low sub-zero temperature ice nucleation promotion by AFP was also prevented by adding a His-SUMO tag to its N-terminus, suggesting the AFP ice nucleation promotion could depend on the protein size or structure. This would be consistent with a role for protein assembly, if the SUMO tag interferes with that. Although the observations provide insights into nature of AFP regarding ice nucleation, a number of questions remain to be answered concerning the details mechanisms of AFP in ice nucleation.

### **CHAPTER 4: CONCLUSIONS**

This study was an evaluation of ice nucleation by type I AFP, which is the simplest model. This work differs from many of the previous studies in that a pure recombinant type I AFP was used, suitable controls were used and all AFP forms were evaluated for thermal hysteresis activity in addition to ice nucleation studies. Together, these factors allowed the common effects of proteins to be distinguished from the specific effects of the AFP on ice nucleation. Furthermore, the nucleation effects of the AFP could be interpreted in light of the known thermal hysteresis of the AFPs, allowing insight into the role of ice binding.

The AFP exhibited opposite effects on ice nucleation under different conditions. In the presence of AgI, which triggered ice nucleation at high sub-zero temperatures, the AFP inhibited nucleation, as showed by the diminished nucleation temperature. In contrast, the AFP enhanced the ice nucleation when it was allowed to occur at far lower temperatures without an added exogenous nucleator. The unrelated insect and type III AFP were suggested to have contrasting effects depending upon the concentration or exposure of the ice binding face to the solvent (Eickhoff et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2016), and impure type I AFP was suggested to have a transient ice nucleation inhibition with increasing concentration (Wilson et al., 2010). Nonetheless, no clear results were previously obtained on the type I AFP. Furthermore, the temperature dependence of this effect was previously unknown.

If this change is due to lower temperature rather than the absence of AgI, then it

suggests some interesting possibilities. A temperature-dependent change in AFP behavior from an ice nucleation inhibitor to a nucleator suggests either a solution change or a protein change at a very low sub-zero temperature. Study of the variants in parallel provided insight into this. The inactive form, MutAFP, did not nucleate ice at low sub-zero temperature. This suggests that the promotion of ice nucleation at low sub-zero temperature is associated with ice binding, which is consistent earlier findings that ice binding site of AFP is required for ice nucleation (Liu et al., 2016) and the finding that a fragment of an ice nucleator displays antifreeze activity (Kobashigawa et al., 2005). Yet, the nucleation of ice requires more than ice binding. As demonstrated by the His-SUMO-AFP. Although this larger construct had normal antifreeze activity, it did not nucleate ice under the conditions in which the AFP did. Therefore, it appeared that the larger His-SUMO attachment interfered with another behavior of the AFP required for ice nucleation. Nucleators are proposed to be distinct from AFPs due to the repeated nature and size of their ice-binding sites (Kobashigawa et al., 2005). Therefore, the transition of the AFP in this study to a nucleating form may be a result of protein assembly into larger structures. The ice-induced formation of amyloid by this AFP demonstrates its propensity for assembly, at least under one form (Dubé et al., 2016; Graether et al., 2003). By extension, it could be argued that the bulky His-SUMO attachment impedes an assembly of the AFP that is required for its transition to a nucleating form. Considering the findings above, it is possible that AFP forms amyloid at very low sub-zero temperature and consequently promotes ice nucleation (Dubé et al., 2016; Graether et al., 2003; Gurian-Sherman &

Lindow, 1993; Qiu et al., 2019). If the relatively large size of His-SUMO tag interferes with an aggregation or amyloid formation process, this can be investigated in future work.

Although it is still unconfirmed in this study whether the effect of ice nucleation inhibition at high sub-zero temperature is caused by direct interactions between AFP and the ice nucleating agent, it was suggested by many studies that the AFP can bind to ice nucleating sites of AgI to inhibit its ice nucleating function due to the similarities of ice crystals and the surface of AgI (Inada et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2016). Taken together, these results suggest a testable model in which monomeric AFP binds to ice nucleating agents to inhibit ice nucleating at high sub-zero temperature, but with low sub-zero temperature causing AFP to aggregate and therefore promotes ice nucleation.

Although it was suggested that the aggregates of AFP can induce ice nucleation (Qiu et al., 2019), to test this hypothesis, it would be necessary to determine whether AFP can aggregate at low temperature, whether through amyloid formation or another mechanism. However, the induction of AFP aggregation by repeated freezing and thawing could be inconsistent; therefore, it might be necessary to cross-link AFP monomers or express AFP multimers to confirm that the increased repeats of AFP is associated with increased ability of ice nucleation promotion. Also, it is known from this study that adding an unrelated large domain to the N-terminus of AFP can prevent it from promoting ice nucleation at low sub-zero temperature. Therefore, the effect of this addition on amyloid propensity should be tested in order to determine whether there might be a relationship between these features.

In future, the investigation of different temperature regimens, freezing speeds and freezing volumes could be explored. Binding of the AFP to a solid surface, e.g. through its His tag, might also allow informative experiments. It is unlikely that these properties of the AFP are meaningful in the flounder where they occur naturally; however, they may find applications in freezing technology.

### REFERENCES

- Acker, J. P., & McGann, L. (2001). Membrane damage occurs during the formation of intracellular ice. *Cryo Letters*, 22(4), 241–254. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11788865/
- Baardsnes, J., & Davies, P. L. (2001). Sialic acid synthase: the origin of fish type III antifreeze protein? *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 26(8), 468–469. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0968-0004(01)01879-5
- Baardsnes, J., Kondejewski, L. H., Hodges, R. S., Chao, H., Kay, C., & Davies, P. L. (1999). New ice-binding face for type I antifreeze protein. *FEBS Letters*, 463(1–2), 87–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-5793(99)01588-4
- Baghban, R., Farajnia, S., Rajabibazl, M., Ghasemi, Y., Mafi, A., Hoseinpoor, R., Rahbarnia, L., & Aria, M. (2019). Yeast Expression Systems: Overview and Recent Advances. *Molecular Biotechnology 2019 61:5*, 61(5), 365–384. https://doi.org/10.1007/S12033-019-00164-8
- Bayer-Giraldi, M., Jin, E., & Wilson, P. W. (2014). Characterization of Ice Binding Proteins from Sea Ice Algae. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 1166, 241–253. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-0844-8 18
- Białkowska, A., Majewska, E., Olczak, A., & Twarda-Clapa, A. (2020). Ice Binding Proteins: Diverse Biological Roles and Applications in Different Types of Industry. *Biomolecules* 2020, Vol. 10, Page 274, 10(2), 274. https://doi.org/10.3390/BIOM10020274
- Burke, M. J., & Lindow, S. E. (1990). Surface properties and size of the ice nucleation site in ice nucleation active bacteria: Theoretical considerations. *Cryobiology*, 27(1), 80– 84. https://doi.org/10.1016/0011-2240(90)90054-8
- Butt, T. R., Edavettal, S. C., Hall, J. P., & Mattern, M. R. (2005). SUMO fusion technology for difficult-to-express proteins. *Protein Expression and Purification*, 43(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PEP.2005.03.016
- Cartier, E., Garcia-Olivares, J., Janezic, E., Viana, J., Moore, M., Lin, M. L., Caplan, J. L., Torres, G., & Kim, Y. H. (2019). The SUMO-conjugase Ubc9 prevents the degradation of the dopamine transporter, enhancing its cell surface level and dopamine uptake. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNCEL.2019.00035

- Celik, Y., Dror, R., Pertaya-Braun, N., Altan, A., Barton, T., Bar-Dolev, M., Groisman, A., Davies, P., & Braslavsky, I. (2013). Microfluidic experiments reveal that antifreeze proteins bound to ice crystals suffice to prevent their growth. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 110(4), 1309–1314. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1213603110
- Chakrabartty, A., & Hew, C. L. (1991). The effect of enhanced alpha-helicity on the activity of a winter flounder antifreeze polypeptide. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 202(3), 1057–1063. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1432-1033.1991.TB16470.X
- Chantelle, J., Doshi, M., & N., R. (2013). Ice Recrystallization Inhibitors: From Biological Antifreezes to Small Molecules. *Recent Developments in the Study of Recrystallization*. https://doi.org/10.5772/54992
- Charpentier, T. V. J., Neville, A., Millner, P., Hewson, R., & Morina, A. (2013). An Investigation of Freezing of Supercooled Water on Anti-Freeze Protein Modified Surfaces. *Journal of Bionic Engineering*, 10(2), 139–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1672-6529(13)60208-5
- Chasnitsky, M., & Braslavsky, I. (2019). Ice-binding proteins and the applicability and limitations of the kinetic pinning model. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A*, 377(2146). https://doi.org/10.1098/RSTA.2018.0391
- Chattopadhyay, M. K. (2008). Antifreeze proteins of bacteria. *Resonance 2007 12:12*, *12*(12), 25–30. https://doi.org/10.1007/S12045-007-0122-2
- Cheng, A., Merz, K. M., & Jr. (1997). Ice-binding mechanism of winter flounder antifreeze proteins. *Biophysical Journal*, 73(6), 2851. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3495(97)78315-2
- Cid, F. P., Rilling, J. I., Graether, S. P., Bravo, L. A., Mora, M. de L. L., & Jorquera, M. A. (2016). Properties and biotechnological applications of ice-binding proteins in bacteria. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 363(11), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1093/FEMSLE/FNW099
- Costa, S., Almeida, A., Castro, A., & Domingues, L. (2014). Fusion tags for protein solubility, purification and immunogenicity in Escherichia coli: the novel Fh8 system. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 0(FEB), 63. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2014.00063
- Crevel, R. W. R., Fedyk, J. K., & Spurgeon, M. J. (2002). Antifreeze proteins: characteristics, occurrence and human exposure. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 40(7), 899–903. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0278-6915(02)00042-X

- Crooks, R. O., Rao, T., & Mason, J. M. (2011). Truncation, Randomization, and Selection: GENERATION OF A REDUCED LENGTH c-Jun ANTAGONIST THAT RETAINS HIGH INTERACTION STABILITY\*. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 286(34), 29470. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M111.221267
- Davies, P. L. (2014). Ice-binding proteins: a remarkable diversity of structures for stopping and starting ice growth. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 39(11), 548–555. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TIBS.2014.09.005
- Davies, P. L., Baardsnes, J., Kuiper, M. J., & Walker, V. K. (2002). Structure and function of antifreeze proteins. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 357(1423), 927. https://doi.org/10.1098/RSTB.2002.1081
- Davies, P. L., & Hew, C. L. (1980). Isolation and characterization of the antifreeze protein messenger RNA from the winter flounder. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 255(18), 8729–8734. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(18)43560-0
- Davies, P. L., Hew, C. L., & Fletcher, G. L. (1988). Fish antifreeze proteins: physiology and evolutionary biology. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 66(12), 2611–2617. https://doi.org/10.1139/Z88-385
- DeLuca, C. I., Comley, R., & Davies, P. L. (1998). Antifreeze proteins bind independently to ice. *Biophysical Journal*, 74(3), 1502. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3495(98)77862-2
- Deng, G., Andrews, D. W., & Laursen, R. A. (1997). Amino acid sequence of a new type of antifreeze protein, from the longhorn sculpin Myoxocephalus octodecimspinosis. *FEBS Letters*, 402(1), 17–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-5793(96)01466-4
- Diener, B., Utesch, D., Beer, N., Dürk, H., & Oesch, F. (1993). A Method for the Cryopreservation of Liver Parenchymal Cells for Studies of Xenobiotics. *Cryobiology*, 30(2), 116–127. https://doi.org/10.1006/CRYO.1993.1011
- Dolev, M. B., Bernheim, R., Guo, S., Davies, P. L., & Braslavsky, I. (2016). Putting life on ice: bacteria that bind to frozen water. *Journal of The Royal Society Interface*, 13(121). https://doi.org/10.1098/RSIF.2016.0210
- Dolev, M. B., & Braslavsky, I. (2017). Ice-binding proteins—not only for ice growth<br/>control.Temperature,<br/>4(2),4(2),112–113.https://doi.org/10.1080/23328940.2017.1279255
- Dolev, M. B., Braslavsky, I., & Davies, P. L. (2016). Ice-Binding Proteins and Their Function. Annual Review of Biochemistry, 85, 515–542. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV-BIOCHEM-060815-014546

- Driedonks, R., Toschka, H., van Almkerk, J., Schäffers, J., & Verbakel, J. (1995). Expression and secretion of antifreeze peptides in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Yeast (Chichester, England)*, *11*(9), 849–864. https://doi.org/10.1002/YEA.320110907
- Drori, R., Celik, Y., Davies, P., & Braslavsky, I. (2014). Ice-binding proteins that accumulate on different ice crystal planes produce distinct thermal hysteresis dynamics. *Journal of the Royal Society, Interface, 11*(98). https://doi.org/10.1098/RSIF.2014.0526
- Dubé, A., Leggiadro, C., & Ewart, K. V. (2016). Rapid amyloid fibril formation by a winter flounder antifreeze protein requires specific interaction with ice. *FEBS Letters*, 590(9), 1335–1344. https://doi.org/10.1002/1873-3468.12175
- Duman, J. (2001). Antifreeze and ice nucleator proteins in terrestrial arthropods. *Annual Review of Physiology*, 63, 327–357. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.PHYSIOL.63.1.327
- Eickhoff, L., Dreischmeier, K., Zipori, A., Sirotinskaya, V., Adar, C., Reicher, N., Braslavsky, I., Rudich, Y., & Koop, T. (2019). Contrasting Behavior of Antifreeze Proteins: Ice Growth Inhibitors and Ice Nucleation Promoters. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry Letters*, 10(5), 966–972. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.JPCLETT.8B03719
- Ewart, K., Rubinsky, B., & Fletcher, G. (1992). Structural and functional similarity between fish antifreeze proteins and calcium-dependent lectins. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 185(1), 335–340. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-291X(05)90005-3
- Fakruddin, M., Mazumdar, R. M., Mannan, K. S. Bin, Chowdhury, A., & Hossain, M. N. (2013). Critical Factors Affecting the Success of Cloning, Expression, and Mass Production of Enzymes by Recombinant E. coli. *ISRN Biotechnology*, 2013, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.5402/2013/590587
- Fitzner, M., Sosso, G. C., Cox, S. J., & Michaelides, A. (2019). Ice is born in low-mobility regions of supercooled liquid water. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America, 116(6), 2009–2014. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1817135116/VIDEO-1
- Fletcher, G. L., Hew, C. L., & Davies, P. L. (2003). Antifreeze Proteins of Teleost Fishes. *Annual Review of Physiology*, 63, 359–390. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.PHYSIOL.63.1.359

- Fletcher, G. L., Kao, M. H., & Fourney, R. M. (2011). Antifreeze peptides confer freezing resistance to fish. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 64(9), 1897–1901. https://doi.org/10.1139/Z86-284
- Fourney, R. M., Fletcher, G. L., & Hew, C. L. (1984). Accumulation of winter flounder antifreeze messenger RNA after hypophysectomy. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 54(3), 392–401. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-6480(84)90153-9
- Fourney, R. M., Joshi, S. B., Kao, M. H., & Hew, C. L. (2011). Heterogeneity of antifreeze polypeptides from the Newfoundland winter flounder, Pseudopleuronectes americanus. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 62(1), 28–33. https://doi.org/10.1139/Z84-006
- Franks, F., Darlington, J., Schenz, T., Mathias, S. F., Slade, L., & Levine, H. (1987). Antifreeze activity of Antarctic fish glycoprotein and a synthetic polymer. *Nature*, 325(6100), 146–147. https://doi.org/10.1038/325146A0
- Gao, D., & Critser, J. (2000). Mechanisms of cryoinjury in living cells. *ILAR Journal*, 41(4), 187–196. https://doi.org/10.1093/ILAR.41.4.187
- Gauthier, S. Y., Scotter, A. J., Lin, F. H., Baardsnes, J., Fletcher, G. L., & Davies, P. L. (2008). A re-evaluation of the role of type IV antifreeze protein. *Cryobiology*, 57(3), 292–296. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CRYOBIOL.2008.10.122
- Gautier, R., Douguet, D., Antonny, B., & Drin, G. (2008). HELIQUEST: a web server to screen sequences with specific α-helical properties. *Bioinformatics*, 24(18), 2101– 2102. https://doi.org/10.1093/BIOINFORMATICS/BTN392
- Gilbert, J., Davies, P., & Laybourn-Parry, J. (2005). A hyperactive, Ca2+-dependent antifreeze protein in an Antarctic bacterium. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 245(1), 67– 72. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FEMSLE.2005.02.022
- Gong, Z., Ewart, K. V., Hu, Z., Fletcher, G. L., & Hew, C. L. (1996). Skin Antifreeze Protein Genes of the Winter Flounder, Pleuronectes americanus, Encode Distinct and Active Polypeptides without the Secretory Signal and Prosequences. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(8), 4106–4112. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.271.8.4106
- Govindarajan, A. G., & Lindow, S. E. (1988). Size of bacterial ice-nucleation sites measured in situ by radiation inactivation analysis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 85(5), 1334–1338. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.85.5.1334
- Graether, S. P., Slupsky, C. M., & Sykes, B. D. (2003). Freezing of a Fish Antifreeze Protein Results in Amyloid Fibril Formation. *Biophysical Journal*, 84(1), 552. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3495(03)74874-7

- Graham, L. A., Li, J., Davidson, W. S., & Davies, P. L. (2012). Smelt was the likely beneficiary of an antifreeze gene laterally transferred between fishes. *BMC Evolutionary Biology*, 12(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2148-12-190/FIGURES/6
- Graham, L. A., Liou, Y.-C., Walker, V. K., & Davies, P. L. (1997). Hyperactive antifreeze protein from beetles. *Nature* 1997 388:6644, 388(6644), 727–728. https://doi.org/10.1038/41908
- Guo, S., Garnham, C. P., Whitney, J. C., Graham, L. A., & Davies, P. L. (2012). Re-Evaluation of a Bacterial Antifreeze Protein as an Adhesin with Ice-Binding Activity. *PLoS ONE*, 7(11). https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0048805
- Gurian-Sherman, D., & Lindow, S. E. (1993). Bacterial ice nucleation: significance and molecular basis. FASEB Journal : Official Publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, 7(14), 1338–1343. https://doi.org/10.1096/FASEBJ.7.14.8224607
- Harding, M., Ward, L., & Haymet, A. (1999). Type I "antifreeze" proteins. Structureactivity studies and mechanisms of ice growth inhibition. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 264(3), 653–665. https://doi.org/10.1046/J.1432-1327.1999.00617.X
- Hay, R. (2005). SUMO: a history of modification. *Molecular Cell*, 18(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2005.03.012
- Hobbs, R. S., Shears, M. A., Graham, L. A., Davies, P. L., & Fletcher, G. L. (2011). Isolation and characterization of type I antifreeze proteins from cunner, Tautogolabrus adspersus, order Perciformes. *The FEBS Journal*, 278(19), 3699– 3710. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1742-4658.2011.08288.X
- Hoornbeek, F. K., Sawyer, P. J., & Sawyer, E. S. (1982). Growth of winter flounder (Pseudopleuronectes americanus) and smooth flounder (Liopsetta putnami) in heated and unheated water. *Aquaculture*, 28(3–4), 363–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(82)90078-3
- Hudait, A., Qiu, Y., Odendahl, N., & Molinero, V. (2019). Hydrogen-Bonding and Hydrophobic Groups Contribute Equally to the Binding of Hyperactive Antifreeze and Ice-Nucleating Proteins to Ice. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 141(19), 7887–7898. https://doi.org/10.1021/JACS.9B02248

- Inada, T., Koyama, T., Goto, F., & Seto, T. (2012). Inactivation of ice nucleating activity of silver iodide by antifreeze proteins and synthetic polymers. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry. B*, 116(18), 5364–5371. https://doi.org/10.1021/JP300535Z
- John Morris, G., & Acton, E. (2013). Controlled ice nucleation in cryopreservation A review. *Cryobiology*, 66(2), 85–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CRYOBIOL.2012.11.007
- Kanji, Z. A., Ladino, L. A., Wex, H., Boose, Y., Burkert-Kohn, M., Cziczo, D. J., & Krämer, M. (2017). Overview of Ice Nucleating Particles. *Meteorological Monographs*, 58(1), 1.1-1.33. https://doi.org/10.1175/AMSMONOGRAPHS-D-16-0006.1
- Kassmannhuber, J., Mauri, S., Rauscher, M., Brait, N., Schöner, L., Witte, A., Weidner, T., & Lubitz, W. (2020). Freezing from the inside: Ice nucleation in Escherichia coli and Escherichia coli ghosts by inner membrane bound ice nucleation protein InaZ. *Biointerphases*, 15(3), 031003. https://doi.org/10.1116/1.5142174
- Kim, H. J., Lee, J. H., Hur, Y. B., Lee, C. W., Park, S.-H., & Koo, B.-W. (2017). Marine Antifreeze Proteins: Structure, Function, and Application to Cryopreservation as a Potential Cryoprotectant. *Marine Drugs*, 15(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/MD15020027
- Knight, C A, Cheng, C. C., & DeVries, A. L. (1991). Adsorption of alpha-helical antifreeze peptides on specific ice crystal surface planes. *Biophysical Journal*, 59(2), 409. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3495(91)82234-2
- Knight, Charles A. (2005). The Freezing of Supercooled Liquids. American Journal of Physics, 36(5), 466. https://doi.org/10.1119/1.1974577
- Kobashigawa, Y., Nishimiya, Y., Miura, K., Ohgiya, S., Miura, A., & Tsuda, S. (2005). A part of ice nucleation protein exhibits the ice-binding ability. *FEBS Letters*, 579(6), 1493–1497. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FEBSLET.2005.01.056
- Kosobokova, E. N., Skrypnik, K. A., & Kosorukov, V. S. (2016). Overview of fusion tags for recombinant proteins. *Biochemistry (Moscow) 2016 81:3*, 81(3), 187–200. https://doi.org/10.1134/S0006297916030019
- Kristiansen, E. (2001). Ice Nucleation and Antinucleation in Nature. ARTICLE in CRYOBIOLOGY. https://doi.org/10.1006/cryo.2000.2289
- Kristiansen, E., Wilkens, C., Vincents, B., Friis, D., Lorentzen, A. B., Jenssen, H., Løbner-Olesen, A., & Ramløv, H. (2012). Hyperactive antifreeze proteins from longhorn beetles: Some structural insights. *Journal of Insect Physiology*, 58(11), 1502–1510. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JINSPHYS.2012.09.004

- Kuiper, M. J., Morton, C. J., Abraham, S. E., & Gray-Weale, A. (2015). The biological function of an insect antifreeze protein simulated by molecular dynamics. *ELife*, 4(MAY). https://doi.org/10.7554/ELIFE.05142
- Kumar, D., Eipper, B. A., & Mains, R. E. (2014). Amidation☆. Reference Module in Biomedical Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-801238-3.04040-X
- Kwok, S., & Hodges, R. (2004). Stabilizing and destabilizing clusters in the hydrophobic core of long two-stranded alpha-helical coiled-coils. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(20), 21576–21588. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M401074200
- Lauterboeck, L., Gryshkov, O., Hofmann, N., & Glasmacher, B. (2016). Importance of controlled ice formation for efficient cell biobanking. *Refrigeration Science and Technology*, 84–90. https://doi.org/10.18462/IIR.CALS.2016.0007
- Lauterboeck, L., Hofmann, N., Mueller, T., & Glasmacher, B. (2015). Active control of the nucleation temperature enhances freezing survival of multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. *Cryobiology*, 71(3), 384–390. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CRYOBIOL.2015.10.145
- Li, J., Han, Q., Zhang, T., Du, J., Sun, Q., & Pang, Y. (2018). Expression of soluble native protein in Escherichia coli using a cold-shock SUMO tag-fused expression vector. *Biotechnology Reports*, 19, e00261. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BTRE.2018.E00261
- Lin, Q., Ewart, K., Yan, Q., Wong, W., Yang, D., & Hew, C. (1999). Secretory expression and site-directed mutagenesis studies of the winter flounder skin-type antifreeze polypeptides. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 264(1), 49–54. https://doi.org/10.1046/J.1432-1327.1999.00569.X
- Lin, Y., Lin, S., Zhang, Z., Zhang, W., & Liu, W. (2005). Plant antifreeze proteins and their expression regulatory mechanism. *Forestry Studies in China*, 7(1), 46–52. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11632-005-0057-1
- Lindow, S. E., Arny, D. C., & Upper, C. D. (1982). Bacterial Ice Nucleation: A Factor in Frost Injury to Plants. *Plant Physiology*, 70(4), 1084. https://doi.org/10.1104/PP.70.4.1084
- Ling, M. L., Wex, H., Grawe, S., Jakobsson, J., Löndahl, J., Hartmann, S., Finster, K., Boesen, T., & Šantl-Temkiv, T. (2018). Effects of Ice Nucleation Protein Repeat Number and Oligomerization Level on Ice Nucleation Activity. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, 123(3), 1802–1810. https://doi.org/10.1002/2017JD027307

- Liu, K., Wang, C., Ma, J., Shi, G., Yao, X., Fang, H., Song, Y., & Wang, J. (2016). Janus effect of antifreeze proteins on ice nucleation. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 113(51), 14739–14744. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1614379114
- Liu, Y., Li, Z., Lin, Q., Kosinski, J., Seetharaman, J., Bujnicki, J. M., Sivaraman, J., & Hew, C.-L. (2007). Structure and Evolutionary Origin of Ca2+-Dependent Herring Type II Antifreeze Protein. *PLOS ONE*, 2(6), e548. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0000548
- Liyanage, R., Jayawardana, B. C., & Kodithuwakku, S. P. (2013). Potential Novel Therapeutics: Some Biological Aspects of Marine-derived Bioactive Peptides. *Marine Proteins and Peptides: Biological Activities and Applications*, 323–349.
- Logsdon, J., & Doolittle, W. (1997). Origin of antifreeze protein genes: a cool tale in molecular evolution. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(8), 3485–3487. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.94.8.3485
- Lu, H., Xu, Q., Wang, C., Wu, J., Hong, R., Liu, X.-Y., & Zhang, Z. (2020). The Effect of Dipole from gamma-AgI Substrates on Heterogeneous Ice Nucleation. *Materials Science*. https://arxiv.org/abs/2008.09968v1
- Malakhov, M. P., Mattern, M. R., Malakhova, O. A., Drinker, M., Weeks, S. D., & Butt, T. R. (2004). SUMO fusions and SUMO-specific protease for efficient expression and purification of proteins. *Journal of Structural and Functional Genomics 2004 5:1*, 5(1), 75–86. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JSFG.0000029237.70316.52
- Marblestone, J. G., Edavettal, S. C., Lim, Y., Lim, P., Zuo, X., & Butt, T. R. (2006). Comparison of SUMO fusion technology with traditional gene fusion systems: Enhanced expression and solubility with SUMO. *Protein Science*, 15(1), 182–189. https://doi.org/10.1110/PS.051812706
- Marshall, C. B., Chakrabartty, A., & Davies, P. L. (2005). Hyperactive Antifreeze Protein from Winter Flounder Is a Very Long Rod-like Dimer of α-Helices. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 280(18), 17920–17929. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M500622200
- Marshall, C. B., Fletcher, G. L. ;, & Davies, P. L. (2004). Hyperactive antifreeze protein in a fish. *Nature*, 429(6988), 153–153. https://doi.org/10.1038/429153a
- Mathews, L. A., Reed, D. W., St. Amand, P., Stirton, R., Mathews, L. A., Reed, D. W., St. Amand, P., & Stirton, R. (1972). Rate of Solution of Ice Nuclei in Water Drops and Its Effect on Nucleation. *JApMe*, 11(5), 813–817. https://doi.org/10.1175/1520-0450(1972)011

- Mazur, P. (1984). Freezing of living cells: mechanisms and implications. *The American Journal of Physiology*, 247(3 Pt 1). https://doi.org/10.1152/AJPCELL.1984.247.3.C125
- Metya, A. K., & Singh, J. K. (2018). Ice Nucleation on a Graphite Surface in the Presence of Nanoparticles. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry C*, 122(33), 19056–19066. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.JPCC.8B05989
- Morris, C. E., Georgakopoulos, D. G., & Sands, D. C. (2004). Ice nucleation active bacteria and their potential role in precipitation. *Journal De Physique*. IV: JP, 121, 87–103. https://doi.org/10.1051/JP4:2004121004
- Mueller, G. M., McKown, R. L., Corotto, L. V., Hague, C., & Warren, G. J. (1991). Inhibition of recrystallization in ice by chimeric proteins containing antifreeze domains. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 266(12), 7339–7344. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(20)89451-4
- Panavas, T., Sanders, C., & Butt, T. R. (2009). SUMO Fusion Technology for Enhanced Protein Production in Prokaryotic and Eukaryotic Expression Systems. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 497, 303–317. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-59745-566-4\_20
- Pandey, R., Usui, K., Livingstone, R. A., Fischer, S. A., Pfaendtner, J., Backus, E. H. G., Nagata, Y., Fröhlich-Nowoisky, J., Schmüser, L., Mauri, S., Scheel, J. F., Knopf, D. A., Pöschl, U., Bonn, M., & Weidner, T. (2016). Ice-nucleating bacteria control the order and dynamics of interfacial water. *Science Advances*, 2(4). https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIADV.1501630
- Parody-Morreale, A., Murphy, K. P., Cera, E. Di, Fall, R., DeVries, A. L., & Gill, S. J. (1988). Inhibition of bacterial ice nucleators by fish antifreeze glycoproteins. *Nature*, 333(6175), 782–783. https://doi.org/10.1038/333782A0
- Patel, S. N., & Graether, S. P. (2010). Increased flexibility decreases antifreeze protein activity. *Protein Science*, 19(12), 2356–2365. https://doi.org/10.1002/PRO.516
- Pereira, J. J. (1999). Essential fish habitat source document. Winter flounder, Pseudopleuronectes americanus, life history and habitat characteristics. https://repository.library.noaa.gov/view/noaa/3135
- Perkins, R. J., Gillette, S. M., Hill, T. C. J., & DeMott, P. J. (2019). The Labile Nature of Ice Nucleation by Arizona Test Dust. ACS Earth and Space Chemistry, 4(1), 133– 141. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACSEARTHSPACECHEM.9B00304

- Peroutka III, R. J., Orcutt, S. J., Strickler, J. E., & Butt, T. R. (2011). SUMO Fusion Technology for Enhanced Protein Expression and Purification in Prokaryotes and Eukaryotes. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 705, 15–30. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-61737-967-3\_2
- Petersen, A., Schneider, H., Rau, G., & Glasmacher, B. (2006). A new approach for freezing of aqueous solutions under active control of the nucleation temperature. *Cryobiology*, 53(2), 248–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CRYOBIOL.2006.06.005
- Pickett, M., SCOTT, G., DAVIES, P., WANG, N., JOSHI, S., & HEW, C. (1984). Sequence of an antifreeze protein precursor. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 143(1), 35–38. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1432-1033.1984.TB08335.X
- Prickett, R. C., Marquez-Curtis, L. A., Elliott, J. A. W., & McGann, L. E. (2015). Effect of supercooling and cell volume on intracellular ice formation. *Cryobiology*, 70(2), 156– 163. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CRYOBIOL.2015.02.002
- Qiu, Y., Hudait, A., & Molinero, V. (2019). How Size and Aggregation of Ice-Binding Proteins Control Their Ice Nucleation Efficiency. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 141(18), 7439–7452. https://doi.org/10.1021/JACS.9B01854
- Rahman, A. T., Arai, T., Yamauchi, A., Miura, A., Kondo, H., Ohyama, Y., & Tsuda, S. (2019). Ice recrystallization is strongly inhibited when antifreeze proteins bind to multiple ice planes. *Scientific Reports 2019 9:1*, 9(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-36546-2
- Ramløy, U.-B. (2000). Aspects of natural cold tolerance in ectothermic animals. HumanReproduction,15(suppl\_5),https://doi.org/10.1093/HUMREP/15.SUPPL\_5.26
- Rath, A., Glibowicka, M., Nadeau, V. G., Chen, G., & Deber, C. M. (2009). Detergent binding explains anomalous SDS-PAGE migration of membrane proteins. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(6), 1760–1765. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0813167106
- Raymond, J., & DeVries, A. (1977). Adsorption inhibition as a mechanism of freezing resistance in polar fishes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 74(6), 2589–2593. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.74.6.2589
- Riggs, P. (2001). Fusion Proteins. *Encyclopedia of Genetics*, 739–740. https://doi.org/10.1006/RWGN.2001.0487

- Roberts, J. (2018). Northeast Multispecies Fishery Management Plan Resource Guide: Atlantic Cod (Gadus Morhua) Bibliography. March. https://doi.org/10.7289/V5/SG-NCRL-18-10
- Roeters, S. J., Golbek, T. W., Bregnhøj, M., Drace, T., Alamdari, S., Roseboom, W., Kramer, G., Šantl-Temkiv, T., Finster, K., Pfaendtner, J., Woutersen, S., Boesen, T., & Weidner, T. (2021). Ice-nucleating proteins are activated by low temperatures to control the structure of interfacial water. *Nature Communications 2021 12:1*, *12*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-21349-3
- Rohl, C. A., Fiori, W., & Baldwin, R. L. (1999). Alanine is helix-stabilizing in both template-nucleated and standard peptide helices. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 96(7), 3682–3687. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.96.7.3682
- Romanenko, L., Uchino, M., Mikhailov, V., Zhukova, N., & Uchimura, T. (2003). Marinomonas primoryensis sp. nov., a novel psychrophile isolated from coastal seaice in the Sea of Japan. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, 53(Pt 3), 829–832. https://doi.org/10.1099/IJS.0.02280-0
- Rosano, G. L., & Ceccarelli, E. A. (2014). Recombinant protein expression in Escherichia coli: advances and challenges. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 5(APR). https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2014.00172
- Rozsypal, J. (2015). The role of water, ice nucleators, and inoculation in insect cold survival. Open Access Insect Physiology, 5, 21–30. https://doi.org/10.2147/OAIP.S64952
- Salvay, A. G., Gabel, F., Pucci, B., Santos, J., Howard, E. I., & Ebel, C. (2010). Structure and Interactions of Fish Type III Antifreeze Protein in Solution. *Biophysical Journal*, 99(2), 609. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BPJ.2010.04.030
- Sands, D. (2020). Investigation of the Amyloid Properties of Winter Flounder Antifreeze Protein (AFP6) and the Application of Aqueous Curcumin in the Detection of this Protein. https://dalspace.library.dal.ca//handle/10222/80483
- Schwidetzky, R., Kunert, A. T., Bonn, M., Pöschl, U., Ramløv, H., Devries, A. L., Fröhlich-Nowoisky, J., & Meister, K. (2020). Inhibition of Bacterial Ice Nucleators Is Not an Intrinsic Property of Antifreeze Proteins. *Journal of Physical Chemistry B*, *124*(24), 4889–4895.
  https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.JPCB.0C03001/SUPPL\_FILE/JP0C03001\_SI\_001.PD F

- Scott, G. K., Fletcher, G. L., & Davies, P. L. (2011). Fish Antifreeze Proteins: Recent Gene Evolution. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 43(5), 1028–1034. https://doi.org/10.1139/F86-128
- Sicheri, F. ;, & Yang. (1995). Ice-binding structure and mechanism of an antifreeze protein from winter flounder. *Nature*, *375*, 427.
- Solomon, R. G., & Appels, R. (1999). Stable, High-Level Expression of a Type I Antifreeze Protein in Escherichia coli. *Protein Expression and Purification*, 16(1), 53–62. https://doi.org/10.1006/PREP.1999.1040
- Sosso, G. C., Chen, J., Cox, S. J., Fitzner, M., Pedevilla, P., Zen, A., & Michaelides, A. (2016). Crystal Nucleation in Liquids: Open Questions and Future Challenges in Molecular Dynamics Simulations. *Chemical Reviews*, 116(12), 7078–7116. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.CHEMREV.5B00744
- Spriestersbach, A., Kubicek, J., Schäfer, F., Block, H., & Maertens, B. (2015). Purification of His-Tagged Proteins. *Methods in Enzymology*, 559, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/BS.MIE.2014.11.003
- Stevens, C. A., Bachtiger, F., Kong, X. D., Abriata, L. A., Sosso, G. C., Gibson, M. I., & Klok, H. A. (2021). A minimalistic cyclic ice-binding peptide from phage display. *Nature Communications 2021 12:1*, *12*(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-22883-w
- Tomczak, M. M., Hincha, D. K., Estrada, S. D., Feeney, R. E., & Crowe, J. H. (2001). Antifreeze proteins differentially affect model membranes during freezing. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Biomembranes*, 1511(2), 255–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0005-2736(01)00281-4
- Tomczak, M. M., Marshall, C. B., Gilbert, J. A., & Davies, P. L. (2003). A facile method for determining ice recrystallization inhibition by antifreeze proteins. *Biochemical* and *Biophysical Research Communications*, 311(4), 1041–1046. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBRC.2003.10.106
- Tong, L., Lin, Q., Wong, W. K. R., Ali, A., Lim, D., Sung, W. L., Hew, C. L., & Yang, D. S. C. (2000). Extracellular Expression, Purification, and Characterization of a Winter Flounder Antifreeze Polypeptide from Escherichia coli. *Protein Expression and Purification*, 18(2), 175–181. https://doi.org/10.1006/PREP.1999.1176

- Vance, T. D. R., Graham, L. A., & Davies, P. L. (2018). An ice-binding and tandem betasandwich domain-containing protein in Shewanella frigidimarina is a potential new type of ice adhesin. *The FEBS Journal*, 285(8), 1511–1527. https://doi.org/10.1111/FEBS.14424
- Venketesh, S., & Dayananda, C. (2008). Properties, Potentials, and Prospects of Antifreeze Proteins. *Critical Reviews in Biotechnology*, 28(1), 57–82. https://doi.org/10.1080/07388550801891152
- Vonnegut, B. (2004). The Nucleation of Ice Formation by Silver Iodide. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 18(7), 593. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1697813
- Wang, C., Pakhomova, S., Newcomer, M. E., Christner, B. C., & Luo, B.-H. (2017). Structural basis of antifreeze activity of a bacterial multi-domain antifreeze protein. *PLOS ONE*, 12(11), e0187169. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0187169
- Wang, Q., Min, C., Zhu, F., Xin, Y., Zhang, S., Luo, L., & Yin, Z. (2011). Production of Bioactive γ-Glutamyl Transpeptidase in Escherichia coli Using SUMO Fusion Partner and Application of the Recombinant Enzyme to 1-Theanine Synthesis. *Current Microbiology 2011 62:5*, 62(5), 1535–1541. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00284-011-9891-7
- Warren, G. J. (2013). Bacterial Ice Nucleation: Molecular Biology and Applications. Biotechnology and Genetic Engineering Reviews, 5(1), 107–135. https://doi.org/10.1080/02648725.1987.10647836
- Wilson, Osterday, K. E., Heneghan, A. F., & Haymet, A. D. J. (2010). Type I Antifreeze Proteins Enhance Ice Nucleation above Certain Concentrations. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285(45), 34741. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M110.171983
- Wilson, P., & Leader, J. (1995). Stabilization of supercooled fluids by thermal hysteresis proteins. *Biophysical Journal*, 68(5), 2098–2107. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3495(95)80389-9
- Wolfram Gronwald, <sup>‡</sup>, Michèle C. Loewen, <sup>§</sup>, Bruce Lix, <sup>‡</sup>, Andrew J. Daugulis, <sup>II</sup>,
  Frank D. Sönnichsen, <sup>⊥</sup>, Peter L. Davies, <sup>§</sup> and, <sup>&</sup> Brian D. Sykes<sup>\*</sup>, <sup>‡</sup>,<sup>#</sup>. (1998).
  The Solution Structure of Type II Antifreeze Protein Reveals a New Member of the Lectin Family. *Biochemistry*, 37(14), 4712–4721.
  https://doi.org/10.1021/BI972788C

- Wolkers, W. F., Balasubramanian, S. K., Ongstad, E. L., Zec, H. C., & Bischof, J. C. (2007). Effects of freezing on membranes and proteins in LNCaP prostate tumor cells. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Biomembranes*, 1768(3), 728–736. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBAMEM.2006.12.007
- Xu, H., Griffith, M., Patten, C. L., & Glick, B. R. (1998). Isolation and characterization of an antifreeze protein with ice nucleation activity from the plant growth promoting rhizobacterium Pseudomonas putida GR12-2. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 44(1), 64–73. https://doi.org/10.1139/CJM-44-1-64
- Xu, L., Rainey, J. K., Meng, Q., & Liu, X. Q. (2012). Recombinant Minimalist Spider Wrapping Silk Proteins Capable of Native-Like Fiber Formation. *PLoS ONE*, 7(11). https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0050227
- Yamashita, Y., Miura, R., Takemoto, Y., Tsuda, S., Kawahara, H., & Obata, H. (2003). Type II antifreeze protein from a mid-latitude freshwater fish, Japanese smelt (Hypomesus nipponensis). *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry*, 67(3), 461– 466. https://doi.org/10.1271/BBB.67.461
- Yang, D. S. C., Sax, M., Chakrabartty, A., & Hew, C. L. (1988). Crystal structure of an antifreeze polypeptide and its mechanistic implications. *Nature 1988 333:6170*, 333(6170), 232–237. https://doi.org/10.1038/333232A0
- Zhang, W., & Laursen, R. (1998). Structure-function relationships in a type I antifreeze polypeptide. The role of threonine methyl and hydroxyl groups in antifreeze activity. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(52), 34806–34812. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.273.52.34806
- Zhang, Z., & Liu, X. Y. (2018). Control of ice nucleation: freezing and antifreeze strategies. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 47(18), 7116–7139. https://doi.org/10.1039/C8CS00626A
- Zielke, S. A., Bertram, A. K., & Patey, G. N. (2015). Simulations of Ice Nucleation by Kaolinite (001) with Rigid and Flexible Surfaces. *Journal of Physical Chemistry B*, 120(8), 1726–1734. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.JPCB.5B09052
- Zuo, X., Li, S., Hall, J., Mattern, M. R., Tran, H., Shoo, J., Tan, R., Weiss, S. R., & Butt, T. R. (2005). Enhanced Expression and Purification of Membrane Proteins by SUMO Fusion in Escherichia coli. *Journal of Structural and Functional Genomics 2005 6:2*, 6(2), 103–111. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10969-005-2664-4